
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

Joint 
Transportation 

Board
Mrs A D Allen MBE (KCC) – Chairman

Councillor K M Kelly (DBC)–Vice-Chairman

Mrs P Cole (KCC)
Mr P Harman (KCC)
Mr J Kite MBE(KCC)

Mr T Maddison (KCC)
Mr J Ozog (KCC)

Councillor J A Hayes (DBC)
Councillor E J Lampkin (DBC)

Councillor Mrs J A Ozog (DBC)
Councillor D Page (DBC)

Councillor R J Wells (DBC)

Parish representative – Councillor R Lees

A meeting of the above Board will be held on

Tuesday 7 June 2016

at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford

Managing Director
25 May 2016



This page is intentionally left blank



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD 
AGENDA

Tuesday 7 June 2016

1. Apologies for Absence. 

2. Declarations of Interest 

To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any).

3. To confirm the Minutes of the meeting of the Dartford Joint 
Transportation Board held on 1 March 2016 and the Special 
meeting of the Board held on 12 April 2016 

(Pages 1 - 20)

4. Urgent Items 

The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 
urgent items and their position on the agenda.

5. References from other Committees (if any) 

6. Matters Arising (Pages 21 - 
24)

KCC

This report advises Members on the progress of matters arising at 
previous meetings of the Board.

7. Update on Measures Arising from the Special Meeting held on 12 
April 2016 

8. Fastrack 

Kent County Council Officers may wish to update Board Members on 
any issues that have arisen since the last Board meeting.

9. Parking Traffic Regulation Order - Clarendon Gardens and 
Cadogan Avenue, Dartford. 

(Pages 25 - 
40)

10. Chairman's Update 

A verbal update will be provided, at the Chairman’s request, on the 
following items: -



The Chairman has not identified any particular issues for verbal 
updates but has asked that information on all matters on item 6 is 
available for Members.

11. Members Enquiry Items 

Members have the opportunity to raise  the following: -

 Questions in relation to capital and revenue funded works 
programmes

 Suggestions for future traffic regulation orders or street 
management proposals

 Questions on policies, plans and strategies related to 
highways, road traffic and public transport.

 Suggestion of a future agenda item (subject to the Chairman’s 
approval)

ITEMS FOR INFORMATION

12. Road Works in the Borough of Dartford (Pages 41 - 
58)

Members will be advised of the roadworks which were currently being 
undertaken or expected within the Borough in 2016 /17.

13. KCC - Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee (Pages 59 - 
86)

For Members information the following has been attached for 
Members information: -

 Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee – Minutes 12 
February and 11 March 2016

NB: If a Member wishes to discuss any of these items at the meeting, 
please advise the Member Services Section (01322) 343251 prior to 
the meeting.



1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD

MINUTES of the meeting of the Joint Transportation Board held on Tuesday 1 
March 2016 at 7.00 pm

PRESENT: Councillor K M Kelly (Chairman)
Mrs A Allen
Mrs P Cole
Mr J Ozog
Mr P Harman

Councillor E J Lampkin
Councillor Mrs J A Ozog
Councillor R J Wells

Councillor R Lees – Parish Council Representative

ALSO PRESENT: Mr Lewis Boudville and Ms Tania Smith, both Dartford Borough 
Council; Ms Denise Harper, Ms Carol Valentine, and Mr Jamie Watson, all KCC 
Highways

40. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE. 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Hayes, Kite, and Ms 
Page, 

The Chairman took the opportunity to welcome the Parish Councils’ 
representative, Councillor Richard Lees to his first meeting of the Board.

Ms Valentine informed Members that the new District Manager – Mr Watson – 
would not be taking up his post for some while as he was not yet available to 
join the Dartford area. 

 In view of this an interim liaison officer had been seconded to provide 
Members with a link to KCC Highways.  Ms Valentine introduced Ms Denise 
Harper who was undertaking this role.

41. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest received.

42. TO CONFIRM THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE DARTFORD 
JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD HELD ON 1 DECEMBER 2015 

RESOLVED

That the Minutes of the meeting of the Dartford Joint Transportation Board 
held on 1 December 2016 be confirmed as a correct record of that meeting, 
subject to the substitution of the following as paragraph three of clause 38 of 
the minutes.



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD

TUESDAY 1 MARCH 2016

2

“Mr Boudville confirmed that such road markings were no longer available 
through either Dartford or KCC although this situation was in the process of 
being reviewed”.

Arising from the Minutes Ms Valentine informed the Board that works to cut 
back the foliage of plants in the planter near the Masonic Hall car park 
entrance had been undertaken by KCC.

43. URGENT ITEMS 

It was reported that there were no urgent items for the Board to discuss but 
the Chairman announced that

a) A special meeting of the Board had been arranged to take place on 12 
April 2016 to discuss traffic congestion; and, 

b) There were two elections to be held in Dartford on 5 May and 23 June 
2016, and confirmation had been received from KCC Highways that 
they had received the appended list of sites of Polling Stations in 
Dartford and noted the request that road works were to be avoided at 
these at election times.  

44. TRAFFIC CONGESTION IN DARTFORD AND THE SURROUNDING 
AREAS 

The Chairman reported that a special Joint Transportation Board meeting had 
been called to take place on 12 April 2016 to discuss Traffic Congestion in 
Dartford.  It was noted that the meeting would discuss 

 The events of the afternoon / evening of 8 February 2016
 Traffic congestion Issues in Dartford generally
 Measures being introduced to reduce the levels and frequency of such 

problems.

It was reported that all major agencies concerned with this would be invited to 
attend.

45. MATTERS ARISING 

The Board received an update on a number of outstanding issues from 
previous meetings and was informed that further information on some issues 
was set out in the Agenda for the meeting.

Arising from the update the following information was provided



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD

TUESDAY 1 MARCH 2016

3

Sensible Street Lighting   Ms Valentine informed the Board that the new 
Kent Street Lighting Contract had been awarded to Messrs Bouygues, and 
that they would commence work in March 2016.  The Contract includes the 
installation of LED street lighting across the County and the maintenance of 
lighting.  It was estimated that the new LED lights installation in residential 
areas will take some 14 months commencing in July 2016.  It was also noted 
that a new Central Management System will allow lighting to be adjusted from 
a central point and thus be responsive to customer needs and requests.
Ms Valentine also reported that Dartford was second on the list for the 
installation of LED lighting.

Bob Dunn Way.  It was reported that Thames Water were still being 
unresponsive to requests relating to drainage in the area and thus KCC have 
decided to commission their own survey to allow the drainage works to 
commence.

Parking Issues Ingress Park.  Mr Harmon reported that KCC investigations 
have revealed that private parking tickets issued on public highways are 
invalid, but that KCC are still seeking a legal way forward on this matter. 

 It was also noted that speed restrictions are being introduced in the area and 
yellow lines are to be introduced in safety critical areas.

Misuse of Busways by Motorists  Mr Boudville reported that a trial of CCTV 
enforcement for this has been deferred pending feedback from KCC on the 
trial undertaken in Tunbridge Wells.  The report on this had not yet been 
provided by KCC.

The Chairman undertook to contact the relevant officers at KCC highways and 
ascertain why the promised report was being delayed.

Parking Control Issues: Common Lane Wilmington.  It was noted that the 
unprotected section of Common Lane was to be included in the next tranche 
of Traffic Restriction Orders presented to the board.  This would allow the 
installation to be undertaken during the school summer holiday period.

Councillor Mrs Allen reported that meetings with the schools concerned had 
taken place over this matter and that she was also due to meet the bus 
provider, Arriva, with a view to amending their timetables/waiting times in 
Common Lane to alleviate congestion. 

As a side issue Councillor Maddison asked if there were any measures that 
could be undertaken to relieve parking problems in High Road Wilmington, as 
saturation point had now been reached in some places.

Mr Boudville commented that the introduction of parking control in the area 
would be most unpopular and that currently speed levels in the area were not 
excessive and thus the justification of the introduction of restrictions on safety 
grounds may be unwarranted.



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD

TUESDAY 1 MARCH 2016

4

Maiden Lane Dartford Parking / Traffic Issues  Mr Ozog reported that he 
has been contacted by residents from the Bexley part of Maiden Lane seeking 
help with parking issues in that Borough.  The Chairman suggested that Mr 
Ozog contact the relevant councillors in Bexley to determine exactly where 
the borough boundary lies and what can be done to aid the local residents 
with such problems.

Additionally Mr Boudville undertook to contact his opposite number at Bexley 
in an attempt to resolve the issue

46. REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES (IF ANY) 

It was reported that there were no matters which had been referred to the 
Board for consideration.  

47. CHAIRMAN'S UPDATE 

Councillor Kelly informed the Board that he had no report to make on the 
three outstanding issues set out on the Agenda, but intended to pursue the 
issues relating to Darenth River Walk, and Pedestrian safety on the Fastrack 
routes, and report to the next appropriate meeting.

With regard to the issue surrounding enforcement of yellow box junctions 
Councillor Kelly reported that this matter would be discussed at the special 
meeting to be held on 12 April 2016, although it was noted that currently 
legislation to enforce yellow box junctions by CCTV does not exist outside the 
Greater London area.

In addition to these matters Councillor Kelly informed the Board that he had 
received a recent press release from Highways England announcing a 
number of traffic flow improvement measures which were to be introduced 
surrounding the Dartford Crossing and the Blue Star Roundabout and 
intended that these should also be considered at the Special Meeting.

48. FASTRACK 

A short report was tabled by KCC on the Fastrack bus rapid transit system 
which operates in Dartford and Gravesham.

The report updated Members on 

 The structure, purpose and composition of the Fastrack Management 
Board

 Service Reliability 

 Infrastructure Upgrades



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD

TUESDAY 1 MARCH 2016

5

 Introduction of new vehicles

Arising from the update Members enquired when the new link road at Ingress 
Park was to come into use, and if details of the membership and schedule of 
meetings of the management board could be provided.

In respect of the new road link it was noted that this has not yet been adopted 
as public highway and it would not be used until that process had been 
completed.

Additionally Ms Valentine undertook to provide details of the composition and 
schedule of meetings of the Management Board.

49. SOUTHEASTERN RAIL 

Despite indications to the contrary, representatives from Southeastern Rail 
and Network Rail did not attend the Board meeting.  The Clerk to the meeting 
undertook to contact the representatives and ascertain why this was, and to 
reiterate their invitations to the September Board meeting.

50. HOME GARDENS CYCLEPATH - UPDATE 

The Board was reminded that discussion on the introduction of a shared cycle 
path / footway at Home Gardens, Dartford had commenced in 2013, but the 
Board had encountered problems approving the proposals originally 
presented.

The Board now considered a new scheme which sought to provide a new 
connection for cyclists along the eastern side of A226 Home Gardens 
between Station Approach, the riverside cycle path and town centre.

It was noted that the scheme had been the subject of extensive consultation 
and that amendments to the proposals had been included arising from all 
valid concerns which were raised.

The Board having considered the new proposals agreed that it was largely 
happy with the proposals subject to 

 Slight concerns that the narrowing of the entrance to Crown House 
could cause problems for large vehicles entering or leaving the site; 
and,

 Confirmation that any trees removed be replanted / replaced, on the 
site if possible and that the whole of the frontage to Crown House be 
considered for replanting once the works were complete.



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD

TUESDAY 1 MARCH 2016

6

Mr Watson who introduced the report agreed to report the concerns to the 
Engineer responsible for the scheme.

51. BOB DUNN WAY - PROPOSED CYCLE ROUTE SCHEME 

The Board considered a report presenting a proposed cycle route scheme 
and associated improvements along Bob Dunn Way, Dartford.

It was reported that Kent County Council (KCC) was intending to install a new 
cycle route along Bob Dunn Way to provide improved off road  facilities in the 
area for commuters and leisure cyclists. 

The proposed route improvements would run from the Thames Road 
roundabout to the Marsh Street roundabout and will include additional route 
links near Joyce Green Lane. 

It was noted that the principal aims of the cycle route were to connect existing 
cycle links, to encourage sustainable forms of travel in the area, to reduce 
traffic congestion and to improve the health of local residents and commuters.

 It was envisaged that providing a safe off road cycle facility would encourage 
residents to commute or travel for leisure by cycling.

Although the principle of the scheme was welcomed, the Board raised the 
following issues 

 Although this was an “off road” path, a number of recent accidents 
have resulted in vehicles leaving the carriageway thus negating any 
protection that the path would give

 Would it be possible to reduce traffic speeds on Bob Dunn Way 

 How much of the new path is physically separated from the 
carriageway by barriers.

Mr Watson who introduced the report undertook to report these concerns to 
the Engineer concerned.

The Board agreed to note the report.

52. MEMBERS ENQUIRY ITEMS 

Board Members raised the following issues: 

Mrs Cole enquired about 



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD

TUESDAY 1 MARCH 2016

7

a) the lighting in the underpass near the Leigh’s Academy.  Many of the 
light units needed replacement and she was unable to contact 
Highways England who she believed was responsible.

It was suggested that Mrs Cole log the faults on the “Fix My Street” 
website which was monitored by all the major highway authorities.

b) Street related issues at St Mary’s Road.  This road has a number of 
outstanding issues that require addressing, and Ms Valentine 
suggested that a site visit be arranged with a local highway engineer so 
that these could be identified and assessed.

Mr Maddison enquired at the progress of a vehicle cross over he had 
requested in Carrington Road, which had originally been rejected.

Ms Valentine reported that this was being reviewed and that she would 
speak to Mr Maddison direct on this matter.

Mr Maddison and Councillor Mrs Ozog both raised the matter of kerb 
stone replacement outside 57 Mt Pleasant Road and asked when a 
scheme could be drawn up to remedy the issue.

Councillor Mrs Ozog enquired about the installation of “dog bone” 
markings at the Foresters Public House, to dissuade people from parking 
across the entrance to the pub car park.  

Mr Boudville confirmed that he was developing an ordering and billing 
process for this service and that once this was finalised this work could be 
considered.

Councillor Lampkin informed the Board that there were currently parking 
issues in the area of the Leigh Technical college, caused by the 
congregation of the Winners’ Chapel.  There are problems with 
indiscriminate parking and congestion caused by visitors and the large 
number of worshippers attending the Chapel.

It was noted that the Chapel have recently been in consultation with local 
residents and Councillors – that a number of coaches bringing 
worshippers to the chapel are now parking off site and worshippers who 
do drive have undertaken to be considerate of local residents needs when 
parking.

Additionally it was reported that the Chapel has submitted a planning 
application to convert some land on its site for car parking which will 
further alleviate the problem.



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD

TUESDAY 1 MARCH 2016

8

The Board agreed to monitor the area with a view to traffic regulation if 
problems do not improve.

53. ROAD WORKS IN THE BOROUGH OF DARTFORD 

The Board received and noted a report which set out details of highways 
works in progress or approved for commencement in 2015/6 in the Dartford 
area.

54. KCC - ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT CABINET COMMITTEE 

The Board received and noted the Minutes of the meetings of the Kent County 
Council Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee held on 4 December 
2015 and 13 January 2016.

The meeting closed at 8.40 pm

CHAIRMAN

(a) FIELD
(b) FIELD_TITLE 



1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD

MINUTES of the meeting of the Joint Transportation Board held on Tuesday 12 April 
2016 at 7.00 pm

PRESENT: Councillor K M Kelly (Chairman)
Mrs. A Allen MBE
Mr. P Harmen
Councillor J A Hayes
Mr. J Kite MBE
Councillor R Lees (Parish Rep.)
Mr. T A Maddison
Mr. J Ozog
Councillor Mrs. J A Ozog
Councillor C J Shippam (Substitute)
Councillor R J Wells

ABSENT: Mrs P Cole
Councillor E J Lampkin
Councillor D Page

(DBC) Sheri Green – Strategic Director (External)
Tania Smith – Infrastructure Delivery Officer
Lewis Boudville – Transport Services Manager 

(KCC) Andrew Westwood – KCC Transport Traffic Manager 

ALSO 
PRESENT:

Ms. Amelia Yeodal – Highways England

Scott Wilson – Highways England
Ian Kennard – Connect Plus, M25
David Cook – Connect Plus, M25

55. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE. 

Apologies for absence were received on behalf of Councillor E J Lampkin 
(Substitute Cllr. C J Shippam) Cllr. Mrs D Page and Mrs P Cole.

The Chairman welcomed all Board and other Members present and thanked 
them for attending the special meeting of the Board to discuss the continuing 
issue of traffic congestion in Dartford.

The Chairman also extended a warm welcome to guests and Officers 
including: Andrew Westwood, KCC Transport Manager; Amelia Yeodal, 
Highways England M25 Network Performance Manager; Scott Wilson 
Highways England Communications Officer; Ian Kennard, Connect Plus M25 
Route Performance Manager; David Cook Connect Plus Operations & 



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD

TUESDAY 12 APRIL 2016

2

Maintenance Manager Dartford; Supt. Ian Hall and Inspector Gary Woodward 
from Kent Police. 

Attending Officers included Sheri Green SD (ES), Tania Smith Infrastructure 
Delivery Officer (IDO) and the Transport Services Manager Lewis Boudville. 

The Chairman expressed his gratitude to Member Services for organising 
proceedings in the unexpected absence of the Clerk to the Board.

56. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.

57. TRAFFIC CONGESTION IN DARTFORD 

The Chairman advised that Members would receive an initial presentation 
from Connect Plus, the operator for the Dartford Crossing on their decision to 
close the QEII Bridge on 8 February 2016 due to high winds followed by a 
Q&A session. Kent County Council and Highways England would then give a 
further separate presentation entitled Dartford Local Network Improvements, 
followed by a separate Q&A session.

(i) Dartford Crossing: QEII Bridge closure 8th February 2016

David Cook, Dartford Operations & Maintenance Manager for Connect Plus, 
the operator for the Dartford Crossing, covered the following major points in 
his presentation to Members:

 The QEII Bridge is an exposed structure with a roadway height of some 
60m. In the event of high winds in excess of 60mph (crosswinds) or 
70mph (headwinds) Connect Plus as the Bridge operator closes the 
structure for the safety of road users in accordance with a published 
protocol;

 Connect Plus made their decision to implement the Protocol on 8 
February and close the QEII Bridge based on forecast data from the 
Met Office and actual wind speeds and direction as measured on the 
Bridge in accordance with the published terms of the protocol;

 The Protocol for strong winds involved 3 stages: Stage 1 an advisory 
speed limit of 30mph was issued based on 50mph crosswinds and 
60mph headwinds; Stage 2 involved closing 2 of the 4 lanes when 
winds reached 55mph and 65mph for cross and head winds 
respectively; Stage 3 – full closure implemented from on-site 
monitoring of 60mph and 70mph for cross and head winds respectively 
combined with Met Office forecasting; 

 In the event of full closure of the QEII Bridge alternative traffic 
arrangements are implemented: Southbound traffic is diverted through 
the East tunnel and Northbound traffic continues to use the West 
tunnel to ensure traffic can continue to move safely albeit at a reduced 
capacity;



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD

TUESDAY 12 APRIL 2016

3

 Highways England informs road users when the QEII Bridge is closed 
using VMS signing covering the South East region, informing the media 
and travel media with updates on Twitter advising road users to plan 
their journeys around the Bridge closure and allow extra travel time;

 Following closure of the Bridge Connect Plus/Highways England hold 
an internal de-brief, plus separate de-briefs with Kent and Essex 
Police;

 Future measures being undertaken by Connect Plus (as operator) was 
a review of the closure forecast modelling with the Met Office, 
initiatives to improve the deployment and removal of QEII Bridge 
procedures and the improvement of customer communication.

Members were then taken through the specific sequence and timing of the 
operational actions undertaken by Connect Plus management and staff on 8 
February leading up to the final closure of the QEII Bridge. 

The Chairman thanked Connect Plus and Highways England representatives 
for a comprehensive presentation. He acknowledged the need for a 
reasonable and proper traffic management process to be in place in the event 
of extreme weather conditions affecting the Dartford Crossing and the need to 
consider closing the QEII Bridge when circumstances dictated. However, he 
expressed his concern over certain aspects of the events of 8 February 2016 
and the time taken by Connect Plus and Highways England to resume 
‘normal’ services at the Dartford Crossing the following day, 9 February. In 
particular he sought details for traffic queue lengths on the 8th from Junction 
4/5 on the M25 in Kent and from Junction 28 of the M25 to the Crossing on 
the Essex side. The Chairman also asked when full service was resumed at 
the Crossing on 9 February 2016.

The Connect Plus (CP) Operations & Maintenance Manager conceded that as 
the Crossing operator he did not have precise details for the length of the ‘tail-
back’ queues from the Bridge on 8 February. However he was able to confirm 
for Members that a full service was restored at the Crossing by the early 
hours of Tuesday 9 February 2016. 

The Chairman next addressed the question of measures to deal with over-
height lorries [in excess of 4.8 metres] at the Crossing. In particular, when 
southbound traffic is diverted through the East tunnel when the Bridge is 
closed and northbound traffic is forced to use the West tunnel only. 

The CP Manager advised that in such circumstances; when conditions 
deteriorated and the QEII Bridge was likely to be closed; traffic safety systems 
were deployed at the Crossing to identify and extract over-height lorries from 
the queues and advise their drivers to seek alternative routes. In addition, 
traffic advisory measures were increased by Highways England on the M25, 
M20 and M2 via VMS (Variable Message Signs) media and Twitter feeds to 
deter traffic approaching Dartford and Thurrock from using the Crossing and 
to seek alternative routes. The response from lorries and other traffic to these 



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD

TUESDAY 12 APRIL 2016

4

strategies had been perceived as positive and the weight of traffic had 
gradually decreased during the day on 8 February.  

In answer to further questioning from the Chairman, the CP Manager was 
unable to confirm the number of lorries that had been forced to queue on 8 
February and conceded that, once lorries had become gridlocked in traffic on 
the way to the Dartford Crossing from Kent or Essex; there was little if 
anything to be done to solve or alleviate their situation.

The Leader of the Council, present as a Kent County Council Member, asked 
what adverse weather conditions would trigger the closure of the QEII Bridge 
e.g. ice fog etc. and what measures were in place to combat individuals intent 
on self-harm or terrorist incidents/attacks.

The CP Manager advised that the QEII Bridge was covered by 3 (three) 
Incident Support Units (ISU) on a continuous 24/7 basis. In conjunction with 
Kent County Council (KCC) and Kent Police, an ICU team were able to 
secure and clear the Bridge within 90 minutes. 

In response to separate specific questions from Dartford Members the CP 
Manager advised that:

 In the event of adverse weather conditions abating for a period (as was 
the case between 11.30 to 12.30 on 8 February); a balanced decision 
had to be taken whether to reopen the Bridge based on the 
intermediate Met Office forecast, allied to the 90 minutes required to 
make the Bridge operational again. On 8 February by the time the 
Bridge would have been made operational [13:00] the next forecast 
adverse weather front would have already arrived 30 minutes 
previously [12:30]. There was therefore no point in re-opening the 
Bridge only to close it again 60 minutes later. He added that KCC were 
examining the case for the use of improved technology to better 
monitor the ebbs and flows of an adverse weather situation as it 
unfolded;

 Diverting Dartford Crossing traffic to the Blackwall Tunnel was not an 
option, given the traffic flow considerations at that smaller site and the 
likelihood of it being overwhelmed. It was not in any case the policy of 
KCC or Highways England to give drivers specific advice in such 
circumstances. The KCC de-briefing exercise which followed all 
incidents assessed the measures that had been taken by partner 
Agencies to seek improvements wherever possible including better on-
line data being made to the public.   

The Chairman expressed particular concern over the lack of information, data 
and options given to road users and the public on 8 February and the knock-
on effect closure of the Bridge had had for both Dartford and Thurrock 
residents. He asked what collaboration had taken place between the principal 
Agencies and Kent Police on 8 February.



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD

TUESDAY 12 APRIL 2016

5

The Connect Plus M25 Route Performance Manager, advised that this aspect 
of events from 8 February would be covered in detail in the second 
presentation but confirmed that a full de-brief had taken place with all 
Agencies and both Thurrock and Dartford Council Officers following the 
events of 8 February. 

The Chairman next addressed the question of Kent Police involvement on 8 
February, in particular, the deployment of police officers.

Superintendent Ian Hall, Kent Police Operational Support Group, advised 
Members of the limited number of police officers at his disposal on a Kent-
wide basis for deployment to major traffic incidents. That deployment of police 
officers to major incidents of traffic congestion as occurred on 8 February was 
only sanctioned if the situation was assessed as life threatening to motorists. 
This had not been the case on 8 February and no Kent police officers were 
deployed to the Dartford Crossing and surrounding areas on that day. 

Kent Police and all partner Agencies recognised the need for better technical 
resources to educate drivers to regarding the need to stick to speed limits and 
not constantly change lanes during periods of extended congestion. Work was 
being done with the major road haulage organisations to educate their drivers 
regarding behaviour in times of congestion and the need to observe advance 
warnings of the need to seek alternative routes at the earliest opportunity. 
With regard to individuals on the Bridge superstructure whose intentions were 
uncertain, each incident was assessed on an individual basis regarding risk, 
harm to the individual and/or others and threat presented to other Bridge 
users in general. In the event of traffic to be stationery for over 8 (eight) hours 
in adverse weather conditions e.g. children de-hydrating in hot weather; 
consideration would be given to the deployment of Kent Police officers on 
humanitarian grounds. 

The Leader of the Council put forward the case for Dartford to be treated as 
an exceptional case in national terms, on the evidence of the unprecedented 
traffic congestion endured by the Borough’s residents over the previous 10 
years. He suggested that exceptional solutions were needed to solve the 
continuous traffic congestion issues affecting residents of the Borough on a 
daily basis. He judged that annual income generated by the Dartford Crossing 
operation amounted to in excess of £100M per annum. He proposed that a 
fraction of that income could be used to financing 2 Police Officers dedicated 
to solving and alleviating Dartford’s continuing traffic congestion issues. He 
gave the example of a similar such dedicated deployment of Highways 
Officers to the Bluewater shopping complex over the Christmas festive 
season each year.

The Traffic Manager for KCC Transport informed Members that KCC 
Highways Officers had no enforcement powers under existing legislation to re-
direct traffic or take any other direct action in relation to motorists. He advised 
that the solution to traffic congestion lay in better driver education and the 
increased use of enhanced technology. He re-iterated the point that Police 



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD

TUESDAY 12 APRIL 2016

6

Officer deployment would only be considered in the event of extreme threat to 
motorists and the public.

The Chairman sought a timeframe for the implementation of the enhanced 
technology to educate drivers and whether new legislation was envisaged for 
Highway’s Officers to receive enhanced powers.

Superintendent Hall was unable to comment on the likelihood of new 
legislation in the current Parliament.  Educating drivers that used the strategic 
network of major roads in the Dartford area, the M25, A2, M2 and the M20 
and deployment of technology e.g. VMS (Vehicle Messaging Signage) 
dependent on central government funding which was constrained in the 
current climate. He noted that all revenues from the Dartford Crossing 
operation accrued directly to the Treasury not to the County or Borough 
authorities. Prevention as a solution was being used with increasing success. 
Kent Police’s experience of Operation Stack since 2015 allied to co-operation 
with KCC, Patrol and Highways England, had prevented the need to 
implement Stack in recent months and was evidence of improved driver 
behaviour. The Euro-Tunnel arrangements implemented over Easter to ease 
congestion in Dover had worked but were slower than hoped for. In response 
to a specific question, the Superintendent confirmed that the Civil 
Contingences Act had to be implemented for both Operation Stack and the 
closure of the QEII Bridge. 

Kent Police, KCC, Highways England and Connect Plus representatives 
undertook to consider Members suggestions and try to identify resources in 
the current climate of shrinking Government finances, to provide solutions to 
Dartford’s continuing traffic congestion issues.

(ii) Traffic Congestion: Dartford Local Network Improvements

Members received a further presentation, from Andrew Westwood Traffic 
Manager for Transportation at KCC, who held a strategic Kent-wide remit. The 
presentation set out joint KCC / Highways England proposals for addressing 
traffic congestion in Dartford generally and arising from delays at the Dartford 
Crossing. 

Members were given details of a proposed 12 month programme aimed at 
delivering the following benefits to the present Dartford local traffic network to:

 Optimise the performance of the three key corridors in the Dartford 
network leading to and across Junctions 1a, 1b and 2;

 Improve information for drivers at key decision points;
 Improve driver behaviour to enable free flowing junctions;
 Reduce unnecessary Traffic Management cell activations at the 

Dartford Crossing through the rerouting of over height vehicles.



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD

TUESDAY 12 APRIL 2016

7

Specific measures were proposed for Junctions 1a, 1b and 2 of the M25. 

Junction 1 a 

 Review signal timings;
 Restore communications between the signals and the traffic operators 

KCC and HE to enable monitoring of the signal site(s) to be undertaken 
remotely to assist planning for eventualities and interventions as 
required;

 KCC to provide Journey Time (JT) detection to trigger strategies with 
Highways England to activate new signal plan(s), VMS messages and 
/or congestion status updates;

 Reduce the number of over height lorries triggering the Traffic 
Management (TM ) cell [estimated at 135 incidents per month] by 
installing dynamic signage on the local approach to Junction 1a to 
better inform drivers before they reach the A282 Tunnel Approach; 

 Update signage and lane markings and install yellow boxes at Junction 
1a to improve driver behaviour regarding lane blocking and lane ill-
discipline ;

 Reduce delays at the Dartford Crossing itself through enforcement – 
spot fines, dangerous vehicle self-declaration and enhanced driver 
education.

Members were advised that KCC, Highways England and Connect Plus 
were now working together jointly in a co-ordinated fashion with new 
signage due to be installed at Junction 1a in April 2016 and further 
signage to be deployed quickly thereafter. The use of the Junction 1a slip 
road by lorries to access the Tunnel Approach [‘rat running’] was a major 
issue. It was hoped the proposed measures would help unsuitable lorry 
traffic access the A282 from Junction 1b. In the absence of legislation to 
enforce yellow box junction adherence, educating drivers towards better 
behaviour was essential. The major road haulage organisations had been 
enlisted to spread the message to their members regarding dangerous 
loads, height restrictions and general road behaviour. At present some 600 
vehicles per day were being stopped and detained in the marshalling 
yards at 1a over various issues. It was hoped that this figure could be 
halved to 300 vehicles per day through the use of an App. advising drivers 
of restrictions on their telephones. It was proposed to select a suitable 
company to undertake a pilot scheme.

Junction 1b 

 Highways England (HE) to review the present signal timings to 
optimise the efficiency of the roundabout; 

 HE to devise a strategy to deter ‘rat running’ from Junction 2. Surveys 
had revealed that 43% of vehicles exiting Junction 2 had used Junction 
1b as a ‘rat run’ to access the A282 and avoid remaining in A282 
mainline traffic. Increasing the red light option to hold drivers on the 



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD

TUESDAY 12 APRIL 2016

8

approach was  one option being considered to deter ‘rat running’ and 
improve the local network for residents;

 Assess full signalising of Junction 1b to improve congestion control and 
the ability to respond to incidents;

 Measuring journey times and timing to the Junction 1b roundabout 
rationalise ‘rat run’ usage versus access to Dartford for residents; 

 Reviews of the Princes Road / Darenth Road pedestrian crossings had 
revealed unnecessary pedestrian stages in the morning peak period 
causing delays to traffic flow and tailback up Princes Road towards the 
adjacent Blue Star roundabout. Pedestrian detection measures were 
proposed to cancel pedestrian staging when no pedestrians were 
present.

Junction 2
 Highways England to invest in a review of signal timings to optimise the 

efficiency of the roundabout at Junction 2;
 Improve driver behaviour by updating white line markings and 

signalling around the Junction;
 Surveys of the Roundabout revealed that large numbers of vehicles 

were red light jumping and enforcement cameras were proposed to 
deter such behaviour.

Future Opportunities

The presentation concluded with some suggestions for future opportunities to 
take action and KCC/Highways England representatives agreed to keep 
Members informed of any new proposals.

The Chairman thanked KCC and Highways England for their joint 
presentation and invited Council Officers to comment on what was proposed 
over the forthcoming 12 months to improve the local Dartford transport 
network.

The Infrastructure Delivery Officer advised that Dartford Officers had been 
involved in the proposals to suggest future opportunities for actions to improve 
the Dartford local transport network. Some proposals held particular 
sensitivities for Dartford residents and Members would wish to give them 
careful consideration. Any proposals that were implemented in the future 
would need to be carefully monitored by KCC and Highways England to 
ensure they produced discernible benefits for Dartford residents. 

The Chairman led the subsequent Member debate on the joint KCC / 
Highways England presentation. He welcomed the new variable messaging 
proposals to better inform motorists, but cautioned against re-routing all M25 
traffic through Dartford Town Centre during periods of difficulty at the 
Crossing. In this respect he welcomed the proposals to measure journey 
times in the Town Centre and Dartford as a whole. He welcomed the 
measures to identify over height lorries before such vehicles reached Junction 
1a and any measures to reduce lorry traffic on Bob Dunn Way and Crossways 



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD

TUESDAY 12 APRIL 2016

9

given the impact of that traffic on congestion in Dartford as a whole. The work 
to improve the use of Yellow Box Junctions to better regulate and improve 
traffic flow was also welcome. 

The KCC Traffic Manager advised that Dartford was being prioritised by KCC 
and Highways England and would be the first Borough to benefit from the 
Collaborative Traffic Management System being deployed by the County and 
the Agency in a pilot scheme. New operational protocols between KCC and 
Highways England would enable greater joined-up working with a series of 
traffic gateways employed to identify evolving traffic issues from a greater 
distance at Junctions 2, 1b and 1a and enable effect preventative action to be 
taken as soon as possible.  

The Leader of the Council repeated his assertion that Dartford was unique 
nationally in suffering the impact of overspill from a major road network (M25) 
and a strategic road installation at the Dartford Crossing. He noted in 
particular, the high monthly statistics for lorries triggering the height detection 
sensors, including the number of repeat offenders. He asked what penalties 
were available to Highway Agencies to fine persistent drivers and whether 
repeat offenders were in fact breaking the law. He also proposed penalties for 
‘rat runners’ from Junction 2 joining 1b and the implementation of a ‘Serious 
Congestion’ phase for Junction 2, by banking over height lorries in a park 
before they reached the actual Crossing; rather than stopping lories on a 
piece-meal and extracting them from the queues at the Crossing.

Chief Superintendent Hall advised Members that lorries involved in rat running 
from Junction 2 to 1b had to have an impact on road safety, before Kent 
Police could take action. However, lorries who persistently triggered the over 
height sensors were monitored by Kent Police’s Commercial Vehicles Unit. 
Repeat offenders were subject to a regime of graduated fines of up to £100 
plus 3 penalty points on their licence. Fines could also be issued at the 
Crossing by the operator Connect Plus. In the absence of appropriate 
legislation, offending lorry drivers could only be advised to seek alternative 
routes at times of Tunnel closure and congestion, avoiding Dartford and the 
Crossing; drivers could not be instructed to do so. Kent Police had formed a 
Task Force with representatives from the Road Haulage Associations to 
agree advice and best practice measures for relaying to their members. 
Penalty clauses for delayed delivery were standard to most haulage contracts 
and served as a further carrot to contractors. 

Members were advised that over height lorries were presently extracted from 
the lanes at the Crossing into holding bays and then escorted through the 
West Tunnel in 14 vehicle convoys, with resultant delays to other traffic. It was 
not possible to institute a rolling block operation in Lane 4 for over height 
lorries within the Dartford Crossing approach because of the low speed 
restrictions. A traffic light system would have to be installed at the Tunnel 
entrance before such a scheme could be considered; but it held attractions in 
terms of freeing up time in the West Tunnel. 



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD

TUESDAY 12 APRIL 2016

10

In response to specific questions from Members; KCC officers explained that 
an extended Yellow Box Junction preceded by a traffic light on the slip road at 
Junction 2 would enhance the flow of the cross traffic from Princes Road 
going east and west. The monitoring of journey times within the Town Centre, 
Dartford and the Parishes as far as Junction 3; was required to monitor and 
adjust real-time traffic signal settings. Junction 3 was being reviewed including 
the roundabout and the fact that the local route around Wilmington and Sutton 
at Hone & Hawley Parishes was currently advertised as a Satnav option when 
other Dartford routes were congested. Officers accepted the need for KCC 
and Highways England to look at the impact of overspill traffic in holistic terms 
on Dartford as whole not just individual Junctions. The Chairman’s suggestion 
for VMS signage between Junctions 5 to 8 of the M25 in addition to Bob Dunn 
Way was also acknowledged by Officers.

Members were advised that all revenues from Dartford Crossing tolls accrued 
directly to central government. No toll revenue was retained or made available 
to Highways England or KCC as a dedicated funding stream to address 
ongoing Dartford local transport network issues. Dartford’s MP had lobbied in 
the House of Commons for Dartford to be made a ‘special case’ and to 
receive Dartford Crossing revenue directly to finance solutions to local traffic 
issues. The Leader of the Council had also written to the Secretary of State 
for Transport with a similar request with no positive outcome to date. 

In the absence of dedicated central government funding for the Dartford local 
transport network; the financing of VMS and lineage was borne by KCC as 
part of its overall annual running costs and Highways England made money 
available from its central government funding grant to finance assessments 
and update Junctions, roundabouts and measures to address over height 
vehicles. Within these fiscal constraints KCC and Highways England 
advocated low cost / high impact solutions in conjunction with Kent and Essex 
Police Forces to address continuing difficulties in Dartford’s traffic network. 
The assessment of Junctions 1 and 2 was ongoing, expanded VMS 
installation was predicted to take 2 months, lane painting and traffic signalling 
was also estimated to take a further 2 months. Junction 2 signalling was being 
revitalised but Junction 1 b measures were more complex. The Tunnel was 
also being upgraded on a continuous basis. Further suggestions from 
Members were welcome.

The Member responsible for liaison with Dartford’s Town and Parish Council’s 
advised that Parish Members and residents were particularly concerned with 
the broader Dartford road network and its impact on their local quality of life. 
Specific concerns were:

 The impact of the A282 ON Bluewater;
 Congestion at Junctions 1a, 1b, 2 and 3 and the backflow of traffic 

impacting on the Parishes ;
 Crossways and the A2 corridor congestion;
 Traffic management at the Dartford Tunnel Crossing
 Congestion at the Bean Interchange and the impact on Bluewater;



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD

TUESDAY 12 APRIL 2016

11

 The need for broader correlated traffic management of the A2, M2 and 
the M25

Members were advised that Highways England were undertaking a specific 
assessment of the Bean Junction and its relationship within the surrounding 
Dartford road network and looking to constantly update its Smart 
Communications operation to supply meaningful information to motorists in 
‘real time’ with good choices for viable alternative routes using in-car 
technology rather than simply shifting traffic problems to an adjacent area and 
authority.

Initial discussion undertaken by Members of the proposals in the joint KCC / 
Highways England presentation that required more local consideration were 
inconclusive. Members identified both advantages and disadvantages to 
solutions proposed for Dartford sensitive issues at Pilgrim’s Way, the Blue 
Star Roundabout and Princes Road. It was proposed that a JTB Working 
Group be convened to give the mooted proposals further consideration.  

The Chairman thanked KCC and Highways England Officers for their 
presentations and Council Officers for attending and invited them to return to 
JTB in 6 months’ time to update Members on the progress achieved, including 
the outcomes of any monitoring of new traffic measures that had been 
instituted in the interim period.

.

The meeting closed at 9.10 pm

Councillor K M Kelly
BOARD CHAIRMAN





JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD
7 June 2016

MATTERS ARISING

1. Summary

1.1 This report advises Members on the progress of matters arising at previous 
meetings of the Board.

2.  RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That Members note the comments in the “Update/Outcome” column of the 
Appendix A to this report

3 Background and Discussion

3.1 Previously, the Joint Transportation Board requested that a report on 
matters arising be placed on future agendas of this Board.

3.2 The matters arising are as detailed in the Appendix A to this report.

3.3 A verbal update, where applicable, will be given at the meeting of this 
Board.

4    Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

5. Appendices

Appendix A:  Matters Arising

BACKGROUND PAPERS:

None 

Contact Officers : As detailed in the Appendix to this report                      

Contact Number:
KCC Highways & Transportation      08458 247 800

Dartford Borough Council  01322 343251





Dartford Joint Transportation Board  

7 June 2016

Action Current Situation Update / Outcome
1 Fast Track – Future Developments A twice yearly update to be made to the 

Board.
.An update should be presented to this 
meeting.

2. Sensible Street Lighting KCC have announced a change in direction 
over this and an update is expected from 
them in due course…

Work installing LED lighting across Kent was 
to commence in March 2016, and Dartford is 
second on the list to be commenced.

3.14. Bob Dunn Way.
a) Access Issues

b) Flood alleviation

It is understood that contractor difficulties 
are delaying works, KCC Officers agreed  to 
expedite matters

KCC have decided to commission their own 
survey to allow the drainage works to 
commence.

4. Drainage Issues Wilmington Court 
Road

Update on replacement of Soakaway

5.15. Removal of Redundant Lamp 
columns and Stumps

Members have agreed to monitor the 
progress made in removal.

6.16. Parking Issues Ingress Park Currently KCC Legal is considering ways to 
enforce parking controls in this area.

7.17. Misuse of Busways by Motorists The possible deployment of a mobile CCTV 
camera to aid in deterring and prosecuting 
motorists who misuse the busways was to 
be investigated by KCC and that a report be 
presented to our next meeting.   

A CCTV scheme being formulated and a 
report to be presented to a future meeting.

8.18. Parking Control Issues: Common 
Lane Wilmington

To address issues here the unprotected 
section of Common Lane was to be included 
in the next tranche of Traffic Restriction 
Orders presented to the board.  This would 
allow the installation to be undertaken 
during the school summer holiday period.

Members have asked that this area be 
monitored



Dartford Joint Transportation Board  

7 June 2016

Action Current Situation Update / Outcome
919. Enforcement of Yellow Box 

Junction: Princes Interchange
The Chairman had undertaken to contact 
Kent Police on this matter.

Discussed at the Special meeting on 12 April

1020. Pedestrian Safety Fastrack Routes The Vice Chairman had undertaken to 
contact the Fastrack operators on this 
matter.

11.21. Darenth Valley River Walk: 
Lighting

The Vice Chairman had undertaken to 
contact the owner of the lighting on this 
matter.

1222. Maiden Lane Dartford
23. Traffic / Parking Issues

This issue has been raised on a number of 
occasions by Members at Board meetings 

1324. Introduction of Dog Bone road 
Markings

Mr Boudville undertook to inform Members 
on the re - instatement of this service. 

1425. St Mary’s Road This Road has a number of outstanding 
issues that require addressing, and it was 
agreed that a site visit be arranged with a 
local highway engineer. 

1526. Leigh Technical College area, 
Parking Issues

The Board agreed to monitor the area with a 
view to traffic regulation if problems do not 
improve.



Parking Traffic Regulation Order – Clarendon Gardens & Cadogan Avenue, 
Dartford

To: Dartford Borough Council Joint Transportation Board

By: Head of Transportation – Tim Read

Classification: For Member recommendation

Summary: This report is provided for Members following the public consultation for 
parking restrictions in the above streets.  A number of objections were forthcoming 
from this consultation period and Members are asked to make a recommendation.

Introduction & background

The local Kent County Councillor, Mrs Penny Cole (Dartford East) has supported 
these restrictions via her combined Members Grant.  Proposals were designed to 
assist with and remediate some of the difficulties caused by obstructive, 
inconsiderate and possibly hazardous parking.

Both Clarendon Gardens and Cadogan Avenue are residential cul-de-sacs with a 
mixture of property styles and the northern most part of Clarendon Gardens forms a 
loop.  Some of the properties were designed with little or no parking provision and 
consequently many use front gardens for parking. 

It is alleged that these streets are popular with staff working at the nearby Darent 
Valley Hospital taking advantage of free parking and that utility and delivery vehicles 
experience difficulties negotiating the area due to inconsiderate parking.

Proposals were advertised appropriately, including information via local site notices 
and a letter drop.  Additionally full details were placed on KCC’s consultation 
Internet pages alongside the consultation documents placed on deposit for public 
inspection at both KCC Sessions House, Maidstone and Dartford Borough Council’s 
Civic Centre.  The consultation period ran from 5th to 29th February 2016.

Appendix A to this report shows show the proposals which were consulted on.

Seven emails or letters of objection were received.  These were duly acknowledged, 
considered and the local County Councillor advised.  Following discussions with the 
Member and site visits it is apparent that some of the points made were valid.

The main comments surround the following issues  ;

 No need for any restrictions
 Displacement of problem parking to other parts of the estate
 Loss of overall parking capacity



In addition to this there were requests for residents only parking bays and short term 
parking restrictions to stop the parking by non-residents – these options do not fall 
under the remit of the County Council and is something that DBC may wish to 
consider if resources permit.  The objections may be viewed at Appendix B.

Further consideration and thought was given to the matter and it was decided that 
some restrictions are appropriate to assist free and safe traffic flows and therefore 
revised, lesser proposals have been prepared that will not require re-advertisement.

Clarendon Avenue/Watling Street – retain the original proposals for double yellow 
lines to restrict parking from the main road on both sides.

Clarendon Avenue/Cadogan Gardens – very limited double yellow lines  around 
the junction apexes for a distance of 10 metres, as shown on Appendix C.  This 
distance being the minimum allowable.

Recommendation;

Members are requested to consider the report and after due consideration of the 
objections received are recommended to adopt the revised limited proposals as 
shown in Appendix C.

Contact Officers;

Steven Noad – Schemes Project Engineer
03000 41 8 181



DOCUMENTS  
ON DEPOSIT 

 

 
 
 

These documents should 
remain available for 

public inspection  
until  

  21st March 2016 
 

 
          In the Borough of Dartford  

 

THE KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 
(VARIOUS ROADS, DARTFORD) (PROHIBITION OF WAITING) CONSOLIDATION AMENDMENT 

No.20 ORDER 2016 
 

        Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 



 

 
 
 

  
 
 
       

        In the Borough of Dartford  
 

THE KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 
(VARIOUS ROADS, DARTFORD) (PROHIBITION OF WAITING) CONSOLIDATION 

AMENDMENT No.20 ORDER 2016 
 

        Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 
 

Notice is hereby given that The KENT COUNTY COUNCIL acting as the Local Traffic 
Authority and in exercise of its powers under sections 1, 2 and 4 and Part IV of Schedule 9 
to the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984, (hereinafter called “the Act”), and of all other 
enabling powers and after consultation with the Chief Officer of Police in accordance with 
Part III of Schedule 9 to the Act, proposes to make the following Order:- 
 

The effect of the proposed named Order will introduce or amend existing waiting restrictions 
in the following lengths of road (in this part of the notice DYL’s means double yellow lines) 
waiting to be prohibited at any time  
 
Schedule No. 5.01: No waiting at any time 

Alma Road, Swanscombe 

The south-east side from its junction with Orchard Road in a north-easterly direction 
for a distance of 10 metres. 

Cadogan Avenue, Dartford 

(i) The north side from the boundary of Nos. 14/15 in a westerly direction to its junction 
with Clarendon Gardens. 

(ii) The south side from its junction with Clarendon Gardens in an easterly direction for a 
distance of 16 metres. 

Clarendon Gardens, Dartford 

(i) Both sides from a point 10 metres south of its junction with Cadogan Avenue in a 
northerly direction to a point 10 metres north of its junction with Cadogan Avenue. 

(ii) Both sides from its junction with Watling Street in a northerly direction for a distance 
of 26 metres. 
 

Orchard Road, Swanscombe, 

(i) The north-east side from the boundary of Nos. 28/29 in a south-easterly direction to 
its junction with The Grove. 

(ii) The south-west side from the boundary of Nos. 1/2 in a south-easterly direction to its 
junction with The Grove. 

PUBLIC 

NOTICE 



The Grove, Swanscombe, 

(i) The north-west side from its junction with High Street in a south-westerly direction 
then south-easterly direction to a point 41 metres north-west of the north-western 
property boundary of Swanscombe and Greenhithe Town Council. 

(ii) The south-east side from its junction with High Street in a south-westerly direction for 
a distance of 30 metres. 

(iii) The south-east then north-east side from the north-eastern property boundary of No. 
39 in a south-westerly then south-easterly direction to its junction with Milton Road. 

(iv) The south-west side from a point 26 metres north-west of the north-western property 
boundary of Swanscombe and Greenhithe Town Council in a south-easterly direction 
to its junction with Milton Road. 

 
The effect of the named Order will introduce or amend existing waiting restrictions in the 
following lengths of road (in this part of the notice SYL means single yellow lines) Waiting to 
be prohibited Monday to Sunday 10am to 11am.  

Schedule No. 6.20: No waiting 10 -11 am 

The Grove, Swanscombe 

(i) The south-east side from a point 3 metres north-east of the north-eastern property 
boundary of No. 15 in a south-westerly direction to the north-eastern property 
boundary of No. 39. 

(ii) The south-west side from a point 26 metres north-west of the north-western property 
boundary of Swanscombe and Greenhithe Town Council in a north-westerly direction 
for a distance of 15 metres. 

 
 
A statement of the Council’s reasons for making the proposed Order, a map indicating the 
location and the effect and a copy of any other Orders which will be amended by the 
proposed Order may be examined on Mondays to Friday at The  Kent County Council, 
Sessions House, Maidstone, ME14 1XQ, at Dartford Borough Council Offices, Civic Centre, 
Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent DA1 1DR and at The Kent County Council, Kent Highway & 
Transportation, Ashford Highway Depot, Henwood Industrial Estate, Unit 4 Javelin Way, 
Ashford, Kent TN24 8AD during normal office hours or viewed online at 
www.kent.gov.uk/highwaysconsultations. 
   
If you wish to offer support or object to the proposed Order you should send the grounds in 
writing to The TRO Co-ordinator, 125-135 Brenchley House, Week Street, Maidstone, Kent, 
ME14 1RF or by email to TRO@Amey.co.uk by Monday 21st March 2016 
 
 
 

Roger Wilkin 
Director  
Highways Transportation & Waste 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

http://www.kent.gov.uk/highwaysconsultations


STATEMENT 
of REASON 

 

 
 
 

      In the Borough of Dartford 
 

THE KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 
   (VARIOUS ROADS, DARTFORD) (PROHIBITION OF WAITING)       

CONSOLIDATION AMENDMENT No.20 ORDER 2016 
 

               Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 

 
The Kent County Council acting as the Local Traffic Authority intends to make the Order 
referred to above and as shown on the drawings accompanying this document in the interest 
of public safety  
 
 

 avoiding the danger to persons or other traffic using the road or any other road or 
preventing the likelihood of any such danger arising,  
 

 

 
 
Dated: 4th January 2016 
 
Andy Corcoran 
Schemes Planning and Delivery Manager 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 



THE KENT COUNTY COUNCIL  
         (VARIOUS ROADS, DARTFORD) 

    (PROHIBITION OF WAITING) CONSOLIDATION (AMENDMENT No.20)  
             ORDER 2016 
 

THE KENT COUNTY COUNCIL, acting as the local traffic authority and in exercise of their 
powers under Sections 1, 2 and 4 and Part IV of Schedule 9 to the Road Traffic Regulation 
Act 1984 (hereinafter called ‘the Act’) and of all other enabling powers, and after consultation 
with the Chief Officer of Police in accordance with Part III of Schedule 9 to the said Act of 
1984, hereby makes the Order: - 

 
REVOCATIONS 
 

1.  There are items specified in Part 1 of the Schedule of Revocations to this Order. 

 

INSERTIONS 
 

2. Each of the items specified in the Part 2 of the Schedule of Insertions to this Order 

are hereby inserted to the extent identified in that Schedule. 

 
CITATION AND COMMENMENT 

 

3. This Order may be cited as The Kent County Council (Various Roads, Dartford) 
(Prohibition of Waiting) Consolidation (Amendment No.20) Order 2016 and shall 
come into operation on the ** day of ********* 2016 
 

 

Given under the Seal of The Kent County Council 
 
This   day of    2016 
 
 

THE COMMON SEAL OF THE  
KENT COUNTY COUNCIL was 
hereunto affixed in the 
presence of :- 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Authorised Signatory 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 



 
Schedules 
 

 
 
Part 1 - Schedule of Revocations 
 

Schedule No. 5.01 No waiting at any time 

Orchard Road, Swanscombe, 

both sides from its junction with The Grove for a distance of 16 metres in a north-
westerly direction. 

The Grove, Swanscombe, 

both sides the whole length 
 

 
Part 2 - Schedule of Insertions 

 
The following items to be inserted into the following Order. 
 
THE KENT COUNTY COUNCIL (Various Road, Dartford) (Prohibition of waiting) 
Consolidation Order 2009 
 

Schedule 5.01 
 

Alma Road, Swanscombe 

the south-east side from its junction with Orchard Road in a north-easterly direction 
for a distance of 10 metres. 
 

Cadogan Avenue, Dartford 

(iii) the north side from the boundary of Nos. 14/15 in a westerly direction to its junction 
with Clarendon Gardens. 

(iv) the south side from its junction with Clarendon Gardens in an easterly direction for a 
distance of 16 metres. 

Clarendon Gardens, Dartford 

(iii) both sides from a point 10 metres south of its junction with Cadogan Avenue in a 
northerly direction to a point 10 metres north of its junction with Cadogan Avenue. 

(iv) both sides from its junction with Watling Street in a northerly direction for a distance 
of 26 metres. 

(v)  

Orchard Road, Swanscombe, 

(iii) the north-east side from the boundary of Nos. 28/29 in a south-easterly direction to 
its junction with The Grove. 

(iv) the south-west side from the boundary of Nos. 1/2 in a south-easterly direction to its 
junction with The Grove. 

 



The Grove, Swanscombe, 

(v) the north-west side from its junction with High Street in a south-westerly direction 
then south-easterly direction to a point 41 metres north-west of the north-western 
property boundary of Swanscombe and Greenhithe Town Council. 

(vi) the south-east side from its junction with High Street in a south-westerly direction for 
a distance of 30 metres. 

(vii) the south-east then north-east side from the north-eastern property boundary of No. 
39 in a south-westerly then south-easterly direction to its junction with Milton Road. 

(viii) the south-west side from a point 26 metres north-west of the north-western 
property boundary of Swanscombe and Greenhithe Town Council in a south-easterly 
direction to its junction with Milton Road. 

 
 

 
Schedule No. 6.20: No waiting 10 -11 am 

 

The following are to be inserted into The Kent County Council (Various Roads, 
Dartford) (Waiting Restrictions & Street Parking Places) (Greenhithe CPZ) Order 2010: 

The Grove, Swanscombe 

(iii) the south-east side from a point 3 metres north-east of the north-eastern property 
boundary of No. 15 in a south-westerly direction to the north-eastern property 
boundary of No. 39. 

(iv) the south-west side from a point 26 metres north-west of the north-western property 
boundary of Swanscombe and Greenhithe Town Council in a north-westerly direction 
for a distance of 15 metres





 





APPENDIX B

Ref No. Comments

1 The above avenue is a residential cul de sac without any adjoining road.there is no 

reason to restrict the parking on this road. I profoundly without reservation object to this 

total restriction. Please we do no need this. 

2 Whilst I appreciate that you are addressing the parking problem in Clarendon Gardens , I 

feel that a rethink is necessary because although a double yellow line zone at the 

entrance will cure the congestion for vehicles turning in , it will only move all those 

nuisance parkers further down the cul de sac . And as Clarendon Gdns is the same 

narrow width all the way round we will still suffer the same blockages , possibly even 

worse as there is already a lot cars parking on pavements at the lower end already, 

particularly at the junction where the road doubles back to meet itself again. The dustcart 

regularly has to reverse round the corner to access these houses. I dread to think what 

will happen if the fire brigade have to attend a fire as the double parking makes it virtually 

impossible to get round . Please can someone come and look at the problem during a 

week day.  I would like to see some form of parking restriction throughout the whole 

length of Clarendon Gds , possibly on a timed basis or residents parking scheme. 

Another point I would like to make is that where vehicles park on the pavement it forces 

pedestrians to walk in the road which is quite dangerous particularly for mothers with 

prams. I thought parking on the pavement was illegal anyway.   Please would you 

reconsider this problem.

3 As a resident in Cadogan Avenue, I strongly object to the proposals contained in 

Schedule 5.01: No Waiting at Any Time. There is no need for double yellow lines 

adjacent to 14/15 Cadogan Avenue in a westerly direction to its junction with Clarendon 

Gardens.  Parking for residents is already at a premium and this restriction is going to 

make the situation in Cadogan Avenue impossible. Please would you consider marking 

bays with 'Residents Only' marked in them, or change to a single yellow line with 'No 

parking between 11am and 3pm Monday to Friday'?  This will then stop staff who work at 

Darent Valley Hospital taking the parking spaces (which is one of the main issues we 

have in Cadogan Avenue and Clarendon Gardens). Further on into Cadogan Avenue it 

would help if you could put 'residents only' bays next to the wall opposite 12-14 Cadogan 

Avenue and again around the corner opposite 10 and 11 Cadogan Avenue.  Both 

sections could be marked out into 3 clear parking bays.  This would ensure residents and 

visitors parked in a more considerate manner. I totally agree with the proposal of double 

yellow lines from the Junction of Watling Street and Clarendon Gardens down as far as 

Cadogan Avenue, I know there have been a lot of near misses and problems with 

access, so it needs to be done as a matter of urgency.  In conclusion, the only thing that 

will control inconsiderate parking in Cadogan Avenue, is if you mark out 'Residents Only' 

parking bays, or a time controlled single yellow line.  Hopefully, this will put an end to 

parking problems in Cadogan Avenue, once and for all.



4 I am writing to object to the proposed Order to introduce waiting restrictions in Clarendon 

Gardens and Cadogan Gardens.

As residents of this area we have seen a vast increase in the number of cars parked on 

street during the day due mostly to Darent hospital staff parking here and also a resident 

who runs a business from home and parks up to 8 vehicles in the street on most days. 

Your proposal to restrict the number of spaces available to park in is going to exacerbate 

the situation with residents cars even further than at present and will mean it will be 

virtually impossible for any visitors to residents to park here, and you must know that 

there are no adjacent streets to us available for parking either. Most of us these days live 

in multi car families and unfortunately we all need to park them somewhere, so taking 

spaces away permanently is never the answer. I have no objection to the placement of 

double yellow lines around the corners of junctions, but to extend them for 30 metres on 

the north boundary of Cadogan Gardens depriving us of 3 car  parking spaces is 

unnecessary and I would urge you to use common sense in this matter. You have stated 

the reason behind this proposal as being to avoid the danger to persons or other traffic 

using the road" and I would appreciate further explanation of how you came to judge that 

a dangerous situation was likely to occurr as I've lived here for 15 years and have never 

been aware of any dangerous incidents at all.

I hope that reason and good sense will prevail.

5 Re your letter dated 26th February 2016, ref; DART/SN/ 2016.Regarding changes to 

parking restrictions at Clarendon Gardens, Dartford.  We Object to both sides being done 

with double yellow lines.  We would be happy with One side only being done.  Please 

consider our needs in mind.

6 I am writing with a few concerns and comments regarding the above “Intent to Make” 

document.My primary concerns are with the intentions focusing on Swanscombe as 

follows: - 1. I am pleased to see that you intend to relax the parking restrictions on The 

Grove, I assume this will allow overnight parking for residents, and not day time parking 

for commuters.

2 (a) I am pleased to see the double yellow lining of Orchard Road to potentially remove 

the parking issues in Orchard Road, although these have reduced since the installation 

of several dropped kerbs, and this action may now be redundant. 2 (b). The double 

yellow lining in Orchard Road may cause issues whereby parking may start across 

residents driveways as, on advice from KCC, parking is not illegal when no vehicle is 

present on the driveway. Can you please confirm if this is correct, and tell me how the 

Council intend on preventing this occurring as double lining may trigger this action .

3. Could you please revert The Grove to one way working, the entrance at the junction 

with Milton Road is not suitable, or safe, for two way working. This would also allow for a 

relaxation of parking restrictions along the whole section of The Grove past the Council 

Offices, possibly assisting with the illegal parking that occurs in The High Street. The 

Grove was extended round to Milton Road in the 1960’s and was originally built as one 

way, this has not been widened or improved since.

7 I live at xx Cadogan Ave and I would like to register my objection to the double yellow 

lines being placed in Clarendon Gardens and Cadogan Ave.  I believe this will not solve 

any issues and simply push the parked cards further into the aforementioned streets 

making parking worse for other local residents.  Also I know that some residents part 

their vehicles there overnight and they will also be forced to move to other areas.



10m

10m

10
m

26
m

Purpose of revision

This drawing is not to be used in whole or part other than for the intended purpose and project as

defined on this drawing. Refer to the contract for full terms and conditions.

Drawing number

Author

Scale

Drawing title

Project

Client

Revision DateRev

Rev

ApprovedDrawn Checked

Notes

01

CADREF

A1

0

DO NOT SCALE

27/04/15
SN MH JW

SMALL WORKS SCHEME - CLARENDON

GARDENS/CADOGAN AVENUE

STEVEN NOAD

HIGHWAYS & TRANSPORTATION

Ashford Depot

4 Javelin Way, Ashford, Kent

TN24 8AD

APPENDIX "C"

REVISED PROPOSALS

FOR DOUBLE YELLOW

LINES TO TSRGD

DIAGRAM 1018.1

48m

X m

AutoCAD SHX Text
Day Break

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
ROMAN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
WATLING STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
CADOGAN AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
292

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
280

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
Lodge

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
The

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
CADOGAN

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
CLARENDON

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
GARDENS

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
This drawing has been produced using Ordnance Survey mapping material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office (C) Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or Civil Proceedings. Kent County Council Licence Number 100019238.





CURRENT MAJOR WORKS IN THE BOROUGH

 





To:             Dartford Joint Transportation Board 

By:             KCC Highways, Transportation and Waste

Date: 7th June 2016

Subject:  Highway Works Programme 2016/17 

Classification: Information Only 

Summary: This report updates Members on the identified schemes approved for 
construction in 2016/17 

1. Introduction 

This report provides an update and summarises schemes that have been programmed 
for delivery in 2016/17 

Footway and Carriageway Improvement Schemes – see Appendix A

Drainage Repairs & Improvements – see Appendix B

Street Lighting – see Appendix C

Transportation and Safety Schemes – see Appendix D

 Casualty Reduction Measures
 Local Growth Fund 
 Externally Funded Schemes

Developer Funded Works – see Appendix E

Bridge Works – see Appendix F

Traffic Systems – see Appendix G

Combined Member Fund – see Appendix H

Conclusion 

1. This report is for Members information.



Contact Officers:

The following contact officers can be contacted on 03000 418181
 
Carol Valentine West Kent Highway Manager
Denise Sutton Dartford District Manager
Alan Casson                   Resurfacing Manager
Katie Moreton Drainage Manager & Interim Structures Manager
Sue Kinsella Street Lighting Manager
Toby Butler Intelligent Transport Systems Manager
Melvyn Twycross                      PROW
Jamie Hare Developer Funded Work
Jamie Watson Transportation and Safety Schemes
Jamie Watson Combined Member Fund



Appendix A – Footway and Carriageway Improvement Schemes

The delivery of these schemes is weather dependent; should it prove not possible to carry 
out these works on the planned dates, new dates will be arranged and the residents will be 
informed by a letter drop to their homes.

Machine Resurfacing – Contact Officer Mr Byron Lovell

Road Name Parish Extent of Works Current Status

The Brent Dartford The Bridge over A282 to 
roundabout at Park Road

Programmed 20th 
June 2016

Leyton Cross Road Wilmington
Cherry Tree Lane up to and 
including the roundabout 
junction with Bracton Lane

Completed

Hawley Road Wilmington Oakfield Lane to Church Hill Completed

Main Road Longfield Between Hartley Road and 
Langafel Close

Completed

Victoria Road Dartford
Roundabout at Millpond Road 
to junction with Burnham 
Road

Completed

Green Street Green Road Darenth
Roundabout junction with 
Trolling Down Hill and Gore 
Road south for 50m

Completed

Footway Improvement - Contact Officer Mr Neil Tree

Road Name Parish Extent and Description of 
Works

Current Status

Birchwood Road Wilmington

Phase 1 between No. 180 and 
190a.

Phase 2 – Between No. 202 
and just beyond No. 238 
(Footway Reconstruction)

Phase 1 – Completed

Phase 2 – Completed

Leyton Cross Road Wilmington

From its junction with Oakfield 
Lane to its junction with Tile 

Kiln Lane.
Footway protection treatment

To be programmed 
(Works subject to 

specialist contractor 
assessment)



Station Road Longfield and New 
Barn

From the junction with Main 
Rd to its junction with Hartley 

Road.
Footway protection treatment

To be programmed 
(Works subject to 

specialist contractor 
assessment)

Surface Treatments – Contact Officer Mr Clive Lambourne

Chastilian Road Dartford Heather Drive to Station Road
Microsurfacing

To be programmed – 
Summer 2016

Appendix B – Drainage

Drainage Repairs & Improvements - Contact Officer Katie Lewis
 

Road Name Parish Description of Works Current Status

Stanhope 
Road Swanscombe Installation of new soakaways Works at design 

stage

Craylands 
Lane, Swanscombe Installation of new drainage 

system
Works programmed 

for 25th July 2016

Hawley Road Dartford Installation of new soakaways Works at design 
stage

Common 
Lane Wilmington Installation of new soakaways Works at design 

stage



Appendix C – Street Lighting
 

Structural testing of KCC owned street lights has identified the following as requiring replacement 
this financial year. A status of complete identifies that the column replacement has been carried out. 
Programme dates are identified for those still requiring replacement.   

Street Lighting Column Replacement – Contact Officer Sue Kinsella

Road Name Parish Description of Works Status

Crossways Boulevard Stone Replacement of 1 no street lights 
complete with LED Lanterns

Works 
programmed 

for 
completion 

by July 2016

Instone Road Dartford
Replacement of 2 no street lights 

complete with LED Lanterns
Works 

programmed 
for 

completion 
by July 2016

Hawley Road Sutton Replacement of 1 no street lights 
complete with LED Lanterns

Works 
programmed 

for 
completion 

by July 2016

Home Gardens Dartford Replacement of 6 no street lights 
complete with LED Lanterns

Works 
programmed 

for 
completion 

by July 2016

Chestnut Grove Wilmington Replacement of 1 no street light 
complete with LED Lantern.

Works 
programmed 

for 
completion 

by July 2016

East Hill Dartford Replacement of 1 no street light 
complete with LED Lantern.

Works 
programmed 

for 
completion 

by July 2016

Gasson Road Swanscombe 
& Greenhithe

Replacement of 3 no street light 
complete with LED Lantern. Completed

Lowfield Street Dartford Replacement of 2 no street light 1 completed/ 
1 to 



complete with LED Lantern. complete 
July 2016

Squires Way Wilmington Replacement of 9 no street light 
complete with LED Lantern. Completed

Warren Road Wilmington Replacement of 8 no street light 
complete with LED Lantern. Completed

Broomfield Road Swanscombe 
& Greenhithe

Replacement of 6 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern Completed

Manor Road Swanscombe 
& Greenhithe

Replacement of 8 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern Completed

Vernon Road Swanscombe 
& Greenhithe

Replacement of 1 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern Completed

Craylands Lane Swanscombe 
& Greenhithe

Replacement of 3 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern

2 completed/ 
1 to 

complete by 
July 2016

The Spires Wilmington Replacement of 1 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern Completed

Carsington Gardens Wilmington Replacement of 1 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern

. UKPN to 
complete

Stock Lane Wilmington Replacement of 1 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern

UKPN to 
complete

Herbert Road Swanscombe 
& Greenhithe

Replacement of 2 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern Completed

2016/17 PROGRAMME:

Ashen Drive Dartford Replacement of 1 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern

Awaiting 
programming

Bondfield Walk Dartford Replacement of 1 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern

Awaiting 
programming

Bow Arrow Lane Dartford Replacement of 1 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern

Awaiting 
programming

Burnham Road Dartford Replacement of 2 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern

Awaiting 
programming

Blackmans Close Dartford Replacement of 1 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern

Awaiting 
programming

Colney Road Dartford Replacement of 1 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern

Awaiting 
programming



Denver Road Dartford Replacement of 2 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern

Awaiting 
programming

Dartford Road Dartford Replacement of 7 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern

Awaiting 
programming

Great Queen Street Dartford Replacement of 1 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern

Awaiting 
programming

Heathclose Avenue Dartford Replacement of 1 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern

Awaiting 
programming

Heathview Crescent Dartford Replacement of 2 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern

Awaiting 
programming

Knights Manor Way Dartford Replacement of 1 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern

Awaiting 
programming

Knole Road Dartford Replacement of 3 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern

Awaiting 
programming

Little Queen Street Dartford Replacement of 1 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern

Awaiting 
programming

Marcus Road Dartford Replacement of 1 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern

Awaiting 
programming

Milestone Road Stone Replacement of 1 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern

Awaiting 
programming

Orchard Avenue Dartford Replacement of 2 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern

Awaiting 
programming

Princes Road Dartford Replacement of 1 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern

Awaiting 
programming

Seaton Road Dartford Replacement of 2 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern

Awaiting 
programming

St Martins Road Dartford Replacement of 1 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern

Awaiting 
programming

St Saviours Walk Dartford Replacement of 2 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern

Awaiting 
programming

Shepherds Lane Dartford Replacement of 4 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern

Awaiting 
programming

Waldeck Road Dartford Replacement of 1 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern

Awaiting 
programming

Wentworth Drive Dartford Replacement of 1 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern

Awaiting 
programming



Appendix D – Local Transport Plan funded (named schemes) and externally funded 
schemes

The Schemes Planning & Delivery team is implementing schemes within Dartford borough, in order 
to meet Kent County Council’s (KCC) strategic targets (for example, addressing traffic congestion 
or improving road safety).  Casualty reduction measures have been identified to address a known 
history of personal injury crashes:

Local Transport Plan funded schemes – Contact officer Steven Noad
Road Name Description of works Current status
Casualty reduction measures 

Installation of deflection 
arrow at lane merge on exit 
from Little Brook Interchange 
western roundabout

To be incorporated into planned 
maintenance works during 2016/17

A206 Bob Dunn 
Way (junction with 
Little Brook 
Interchange)

Amend advance direction 
sign on eastbound 
carriageway to match 
current carriageway 
markings on approach to 
western roundabout.

Sign being amended as part of other works 
being undertaken by Highways England’s 
contractor.

A226 East Hill 
junction with 
Darenth Road

Revised scheme proposed 
involving road marking 
alterations

Works complete

A225 Princes 
Road, junction with 
Darenth Road

Redesign of signal-
controlled junction is in 
progress due to changes to 
FastTrack busway.  No 
separate scheme to be 
prepared.

Site shows no definitive pattern of crashes 
so it will be monitored for a further period. 
Changes to FastTrack will bring about the 
need for changes to the junction and signals 
and this may be an ideal time to revisit the 
junction. 

A206 Crossways 
Boulevard

Implement 40 miles per hour 
speed limit for the entire 
length of the road (the 
section between the 
roundabout junctions with 
B255 Station Road and 
Galleon Boulevard currently 
has a 50mph limit).

Traffic Regulation Order advertised with no 
objections.  TRO to be Made and Sealed in 
coming months. Signage revisions will need 
to be coordinated with KCC High Speed 
Road programme.

B255 St Clements 
Way roundabout 
junction with 
Bluewater Parkway

Installation of deflection 
arrow on the carriageway at 
lane merge on exit to 
northern arm.

Installation of lane direction 
markings on northern 
approach arm (lane 1 ‘B255 
Bean’, lane 2 ‘Bluewater’, 
lane 3 bus lane).

To be incorporated into planned 
maintenance works during 2016/17



Local Transport Plan funded schemes – Contact officer Steven Noad
Road Name Description of works Current status
Station Road 
junction with Dale 
Road, Southfleet

Install central warning line 
on Station Road through the 
junction.

Review and rationalisation of 
warning signs on 
approaches to junction.

Reposition of westbound 
bus stop to a point west of 
junction with associated 
works.

Works complete with the exception of two 
freight/HGV signs.  These will be ordered for 
installation in Summer 2016.

Local Growth Fund schemes

A226 Home 
Gardens North

Shared use footway and 
cycleway

Design work completed. Construction works 
programmed to commence from Monday 
16th May for 6 weeks.

Externally funded schemes – Section 106 (contribution from Bellegrove Ceramics site re-
development)

B2500 Watling 
Street, east of 
junction with Hill 
House Road

New pedestrian refuge. Design work complete.  Construction works 
to be programmed during 2016/17.

Local Growth Fund

Local Growth Fund programme update for the Dartford Borough.

The Department for Transport (DfT) added £100m to the Local Growth Fund (LGF) pot in order to 
fund Local Sustainable Transport Fund Style schemes.  KCC subsequently submitted four Local 
Sustainable Transport Fund (LSTF) capital bids 1) East Kent – A network for Growth, 2) Kent 
Thameside – Integrated door-to-door journeys and 3) West Kent – Tackling Congestion.  The 
fourth was for Tonbridge Town Centre Regeneration, which included a highway improvements 
scheme in the Lower High Street as well as additional LSTF style measures.  The objective of all of 
the capital bids is to boost economic growth by decreasing carbon emissions and reducing 
congestion.

The Kent Thameside, West Kent and Tonbridge Town Centre Regeneration bids were all 
successful. The schemes aim to:

 improve access to employment and services
 reduce the need to travel by the private car
 enhance pedestrian, cycle and public transport facilities
 improve sustainable transport connections

The following schemes have been submitted as part of the successful Kent Thameside LSTF this 
financial year:



Local Growth Fund (Transport Innovations)

Scheme Name Description of Works Current Status

Bob Dunn Way 
cycle route 

improvements

New cycle route between Thames Way and 
Joyce Green Lane roundabout.

Environmental surveys on-
going. Now progressing to 
Detailed Design stage with two 
options requested.   Aspiration 
to deliver cycle route in 16/17 
but estimated construction costs 
have risen significantly. 

Cycle parking 
improvements 

throughout 
Dartford 
Borough

Cycle parking at Stations & Town Centres 
(Dartford, Greenhithe & Longfield)

Dartford and Greenhithe- Phase 
2 delayed due to further ground 
surveys requested by Network 
Rail. Will be complete by end of 
July.

Longfield – Scheme Complete.

Dartford 
Pedestrian 
Information 

Displays

Series of pedestrian signage to encourage 
more walking

All fingerposts installed, 
redundant signage removed and 
foundations prepared for 
monoliths. Monolith installation 
will take place in May.

Ebbsfleet cycle 
infrastructure 
and parking 

improvements

Additional 20 cycle storage spaces and 
infrastructure improvements within car park 

C.  

All complete except cycle 
shelters which will be installed 
by end of May.  

School capital 
grants

Grants supplied to schools who successfully 
bid for funding of up to £5k per school. Scheme Complete. 



Appendix E – Developer Funded Works

Developer Funded Works (Section 278 Agreement Works) – Contact Officer Dave Miles

Scheme Name Mastergov 
File Ref No

Parish Description of Works Current Status

Former GSK Site 
– Junction A DA087 Dartford

Provision of new 
access on north side of 
existing Mill Pond Road 
Roundabout to facilitate 

development. 
Associated 

improvements to 
existing roundabout.

Substantially complete. 
Awaiting street lighting 

audit.

Southfleet Road, 
Swanscombe DA2102 S & G

Minor carriageway 
widening and provision 
of footpath and street 

lighting to 
accommodate new 
access to Eastern 

Quarry development.

Substantially complete. 
Awaiting street lighting 

remedials.

London 
Road/Manorway 

Junction
DA2119 S & G

Alterations to existing 
junction to 

accommodate traffic 
signals

Works in progress. 
Awaiting signal 

installation and High 
Friction surfacing.

St Clements 
Way DA2131 Stone

Installation of signalised 
junction to serve new 
housing development

First Cert. issued. 
Awaiting remedial work 

programme from 
developer.

Halcrow Avenue 
Phase 1 (The 

Bridge)
DA2132 Dartford

Alterations to existing 
highway to 

accommodate 
residential development

First certificate 
inspection completed. 

Awaiting works 
programme.

Cotton Lane 
(Former 

Fantaseas site)
DA3016 Stone

Construction of new 
bell mouth access to 

site compound.

Access now closed. 
Developer chased to 

complete work.

Marsh Street 
North (The 

Bridge)
DA3022 Dartford

Construction of access 
to Primary School car 

park
On Maintenance

Hedge Place 
Road DA3026 Stone

Provision of footway 
and alterations to 

existing highway to 
accommodate 

proposed  residential 
development

Technical Audit in 
progress (Ashley 

Ralph)



Former GSK Site 
- Junction D DA3028 Dartford

Construction of new 
roundabout at Temple 
Hill and installation of  

associated traffic 
signals 

Substantially complete. 
Awaiting 

commissioning of traffic 
signals. 

Southfleet Road 
(Former N.Grid 

site)
DA3029 S & G

Provision of accesses 
to serve proposed 

residential development

Works in progress 
(Jamie Hare)

Priory Road 
(North) DA3030 Dartford

Provision of bell mouth 
access for Weston 

Homes housing 
development.

Substantially complete. 
Remedial work 
required once 

construction access no 
longer required.

Darenth 
Road/Powdermill 

Lane
DA3032 Darenth

Improvement to 
existing junction, 

construction of new 
footway as part of 

adjacent residential 
development.

Technical acceptance 
issued. Awaiting signed 

Agreement.

Brunel Way DA3034 Dartford

Alterations to existing 
highway to allow 

access to new sub 
station

On Maintenance

Priory Road 
(North) Lawson 
Road & Eleanor 

Close

DA3036 Dartford

Formation of bell mouth 
access in Priory Road 
and associated works 
in existing highway as 

part of residential 
development by 
Bellway Homes.

Works in progress

Central Road – 
Junctions E & F DA3037 Dartford

Formation of bell mouth 
accesses for residential 
development by Ward 

Homes.

Substantially complete.

Halcrow Avenue 
Phase 2 (The 

Bridge)
DA3039 Dartford

Formation of bell mouth 
accesses for Phase 2 

of residential 
development.

Substantially complete 
(scheme locked by 

DA2132)

Darenth Road 
(South) Old Mill 

Site
DA3040 Darenth

Improvements to 
existing bell mouth 

access to serve 
residential development

On Maintenance

Hayes Road 
(Stone St. Marys 

School)
DA3043 Stone Provision of parking 

bays and drop off point. On Maintenance

Brunel Way (Plot DA3044 Dartford Construction of new 
access and alterations 

On maintenance



13 The Bridge) to existing.

Former GSK Site 
– Junction B DA3050 Dartford

New signalised cross 
road junction in Central 

Road.
In progress

Instone Road DA3051 Dartford

Alterations to existing 
highway to provide 

access to proposed Lidl 
store. 

Technical submission 
awaited (Jamie Hare)

Former GSK Site 
– Junction C DA3052 Dartford

Provision of traffic 
signals to existing Mill 

Pond Road, Overy 
Street & Central Road 

junction

. Substantially 
complete. Awaiting 

remedial work

Joyce Green 
Lane (west) DA3061 Dartford

Alteration to existing 
highway to serve 

residential development 
on former GSK car 

park.

Drainage works 
commenced.

Central Road DA3070 Dartford

Alteration to existing 
highway in conjunction 

with residential 
development by 
Bellway Homes.

Technical audit in 
progress.

Appendix F – Bridge Works

Bridge Works – Contact Officer Katie Moreton

Road Name Parish Description of Works Current Status

No works planned



Appendix G – Traffic Systems

There is a programme of scheduled maintenance to refurbish life expired traffic signal equipment across 
the county based upon age and fault history. The delivery of these schemes is dependent upon school 
terms and holiday periods; local residents, businesses and schools will be informed verbally and by a letter 
drop of the exact dates when known. 

Traffic Systems - Contact Officer: Toby Butler
 

Location Description of Works Current Status

No traffic signal refurbishment work being 
carried out this year

Appendix H – Member Highway Fund 
 

  Member Highway Fund programme update for the Dartford District.
The following schemes are those, which have been approved for funding by both the relevant 
Member and by Roger Wilkin, Director of Highways, Transportation and Waste. The list only includes 
schemes, which are 

 in design 
 at consultation stage
 about to be programmed
 recently completed on site

The list is up to date as of 28th April 2016
The details given below are for highway projects only, this report does not detail;

 Contributions Members have made to other groups such as parish councils
 Highway studies
 Traffic & non-motorised user surveys funded by Members.  

More information on the schemes listed below can be found via Kent Gateway, the online database 
for all Combined Member Grant schemes and studies, or by contacting the Traffic and Safety 
Engineer for the Combined Member Grant (Dartford district). 

Ann Allen (Wilmington)

Details of Scheme Status

15-MHF-DA-20 Contribution to support Sunday bus service
Support for Sunday bus service 429, shared scheme with other KCC Members

Support in 
place from 
November 

2015 to 
November 

2016



Penny Cole (Dartford East)

Details of Scheme Status

13-MHF-GR-39 Town Centre Improvements (Clock Tower)
Painting works have commenced and will be completed in November 2015

Works 
completed

15-MHF-DA-99 Cugley Road, Dartford
Request for Children Playing warning sign 

Works 
completed in 

April 2015

15-MHF-DA-75 Clarendon Gardens Cadogan Avenue, St Marys Rd  j/w 
Charles Street &  Hayes Road

Investigate new parking restrictions and the extension of existing zig zags outside 
Stone School

Report to JTB 
June 2016

15-MHF-DA-25 Carlton Avenue/Hayes Road, Dartford
Small scheme investigation to look into prevent parking on the triangle

Discussions 
ongoing with 

Member 

Peter Harman (Swanscombe & Greenhithe) 

Details of Scheme Status

15-MHF-DA-72 Orchard Road/The Grove
Installation of Parking Restrictions subject to consultation with residents

Public 
consultation 
complete. 
Member 

considering 
objections

Jeremy Kite MBE (Dartford Rural) 

Details of Scheme Status

No current highway schemes

Tom Maddison (Dartford North East)

Details of Scheme Status

13-MHF-GR-39 Town Centre Improvements (Clock Tower)
Painting works have commenced and will be completed in November 2015

Works 
completed

15-MHF-DA-97 The Brent
Vehicles parking on private forecourt & public footway, via zebra crossing drop 
kerbs to access footway, small scheme to remediate issues. 

Discussions 
ongoing with 

Member



Jan Ozog (Dartford West)

Details of Scheme Status

13-MHF-GR-39 Town Centre Improvements (Clock Tower)
Painting works have commenced and will be completed in November 2015

Works 
completed

1.1 Legal Implications

1.1.1 Not applicable.

1.2 Financial and Value for Money Considerations

1.2.1 Not applicable.

1.3 Risk Assessment

1.3.1 Not applicable.

Contacts: Carol Valentine / Denise Sutton 03000 418181



KCC - Environment, Highways and Waste 





1

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL

ENVIRONMENT & TRANSPORT CABINET COMMITTEE

MINUTES of a meeting of the Environment & Transport Cabinet Committee held in 
the Council Chamber, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Friday, 12 
February 2016.

PRESENT: Mrs P A V Stockell (Chairman), Mr C R Pearman (Vice-Chairman), 
Mr N J Bond (Substitute for Mr B E MacDowall), Mr C W Caller, Mr A D Crowther 
(Substitute for Mr M Baldock), Mrs T Dean, MBE (Substitute for Mr I S Chittenden), 
Dr M R Eddy, Mrs S V Hohler (Substitute for Mr A H T Bowles), Mr P J Homewood, 
Mr J M Ozog, Mr C Simkins, Mrs C J Waters, Mr M E Whybrow and 
Mr M A Wickham

ALSO PRESENT: Mr M A C Balfour, Mrs A D Allen, MBE, Mr R H Bird, 
Mr M J Northey, Mr J A  Davies, Mr D L Brazier, Ms A Harrison, Mr T A Maddison, 
Mr D Smyth and Mr C P Smith

IN ATTENDANCE: Mrs B Cooper (Corporate Director of Growth, Environment and 
Transport), Mr R Wilkin (Interim Director of Highways, Transformation and Waste), 
Clark (LED Street Lighting Conversion Project Manager), Mr S Charman (Head of 
Consultation and Engagement) and Ms C A Singh (Democratic Services Officer)

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS

149. Apologies and Substitutes 
(Item A1)

Apologies were received from; Mr Bowles, who was substituted by Mrs Hohler, Mr 
Baldock, substituted by Mr Crowther, Mr MacDowall, substituted by Mr Bond and Mr 
Chittenden  who was substituted by Mrs Dean.

150. Declarations of Interest by Members in items on the Agenda 
(Item A2)

No declarations of interest were received.

151. Minutes of the meetings held on 4 December 2015 and 12 January 2016 
(Item A3)

RESOLVED that the Minutes of the meetings held on 4 December 2015 and 13 
January 2016 were correctly recorded and that they be signed by the Chairman.

152. Proposed revision to the Street Lighting Policy 
(Item B1)

1. The Cabinet Member for Environment and Transportation, Mr Balfour, 
introduced the report that outlined the consultation process, presented the results 
and proposed changes to the Street Lighting Policy, including the introduction of 



optimised all night lighting (Option 3) as new LED streetlights were installed and 
commissioned on the Central Management System.

2. The Chairman welcomed Miss Tina Brooker, representative of the Right to 
Light Campaign, Miss Angela Harrison County Councillor for Sheerness who had 
been given permission to speak at the meeting.  A letter from the Suzy Lamplugh 
Trust, a supporter of the Right to Light Campaign, was tabled.

3. Miss Brooker, representative of “Right to Light Campaign” spoke in favour of 
all night lighting but queried the consultation process questioning that certain groups 
within the community had not been consulted particularly the disabled, vulnerable 
and those residents with dementia.  

4. Miss Harrison, County Councillor for Sheerness, said that she endorsed the 
recommendation for all night lighting.  In response to a question Mr Balfour confirmed 
that there was the technology to control the street lights from a Central Management 
System.  This would enable the complete management of the street lighting including 
dimming and switch on/off.  The initial setting of the lights would be determined by 
the Contractor. However, if a community wished to alter the pattern of the light levels, 
it was proposed that in these instances such requests would be made by Parish 
Councils and or District Councils which would then be taken to the relevant Joint 
Transportation Board (JTB).  The JTB would consider those requests and make a 
recommendation to the Cabinet Member for Environment and Transport.

5. The Interim Director of Highways, Transportation and Waste, Mr Wilkin, 
explained that the report presented changes to the Street Lighting Policy that 
encompassed the needs of the community, the environment and responded to the 
challenging budgetary circumstances faced by the County Council.  He commended 
option 3 in the report to the Cabinet Committee as the sensible way forward.

6. Mr Balfour, Mr Wilkin and Mr Clark noted comments and responded to 
questions by Members as follows:

a)  A comment was made that the consultation document, was detailed and 
well balanced and the views on the elderly within the document were 
shared. 

b) Mr Wilkin advised that it would have been a mistake to specify a 
percentage of light as it would not be appropriate for all streets all of the 
time.  Each street’s lighting would be individually tailored.  It was clear to 
the providers that illumination needed to be at a level that people could see 
eg the edge of curb, faces and feel safe which would vary from street to 
street.  Mrs Dean thanked Mr Wilkin for his reply but queried that this was 
not part of the consultation and this may be creating complications with 
residents coming back to the council to alter their lights. 

c) Mr Balfour advised that the JTBs had discussed the issue of street lighting 
many times.  He considered that it would have been too much for each 
Parish Council to have conducted a consultation with its residents on street 
lighting.  He hoped that if residents did have an issue with the setting of 
their lighting levels the proposed way for them to make their feelings known 
was the right way forward.  Mrs Cooper advised that the Contractors were 
experts who had been contracted to roll out the lights in Paris, France.  



They hoped to get the light levels right in the first phase beginning in 
Ashford and used that as a benchmark.

d) Mr Wilkin advised that it was not known what the right level of light was for 
any particular street at this time.  The LED lights were extremely bright and 
would need to be tailored to each particular road or street.  There would 
not be 100% lighting at all times. 

e) Mr Balfour confirmed that complaints would not come to this Cabinet 
Committee but would be dealt with at a local level.

f) A comment was made that this was a good news story, where a big 
commitment was being entered into that would save money and the 
environment.  It was considered that the key word in the document was 
“optimum”.

g) Mrs Hohler proposed, seconded by Mr Whybrow the proposed 
recommendation. 

h) Mr Whybrow said that Option 3 was the sensible option.  LED lighting 
would be a big improvement and would cause less light pollution.

i) Mr Clarke advised on when blue and white lighting may or may not be 
appropriate to use.  He assured Members that the lighting in the residential 
areas would be the first priority.

j) Mr Crowther recommended that Members visit Boundary Road, Minster, 
Isle of Sheppey which was illuminated by LED lighting.

k) Mr Balfour assured the Cabinet Committee that the best LED lighting had 
been selected from what was available at the present time.

l) A comment was made that this was an excellent report and requested that 
there should be a settling down period of three to six months when the new 
lights were installed as there would be different seasons which would have 
an effect.

m) Mrs Waters advised that the residents of Romney Marsh welcomed the 
news of the new Street lighting Strategy.  She highlighted that within St 
Mary’s Bay there were currently three estates without street lighting and 
requested that those areas be considered a priority.

n) Mr Wilkin reassured the Cabinet Committee that he had made rigorous 
checks and consulted with experts to ensure that the equalities impact 
assessment had been adhered to mitigate any adverse impacts that may 
be identified.  

o) Mr Wilkin advised the issue of illuminating alleyways had been discussed 
with the contractors who had knowledge of appropriately lighting those 
areas.

p) Mr Clark advised that the street lighting would be controlled through a 
Central Management System which would be controlled by the Contractor.  
If the system lost connection to the internet, once it was reconnected, the 
system restored back to the setting before the disconnection. 

7. RESOLVED that:-

a) the comments and responses to questions by Members be noted; and

b) the Cabinet Committee unanimously endorsed the proposed decision to be 
taken by the Cabinet Member for Environment and Transport to make 
changes to the Street Lighting Policy, including the introduction of optimised 
all night lighting (Option 3) as new LED streetlights were installed and 



commissioned on the Central Management System as attached to the 
report at appendix E.



1

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL

ENVIRONMENT & TRANSPORT CABINET COMMITTEE

MINUTES of a meeting of the Environment & Transport Cabinet Committee held in 
the Council Chamber, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Friday, 11 March 
2016.

PRESENT: Mrs P A V Stockell (Chairman), Mr C R Pearman (Vice-Chairman), 
Mr M Baldock, Mr A H T Bowles, Mr D L Brazier (Substitute for Mr M A Wickham), 
Mr C W Caller, Mr I S Chittenden, Dr M R Eddy, Mr P J Homewood, 
Mr B E MacDowall, Mr J M Ozog, Mr C Simkins, Mrs C J Waters and 
Mr M E Whybrow

ALSO PRESENT: Mr M A C Balfour, Mr P M Hill, OBE and Mr B J Sweetland

IN ATTENDANCE: Mrs B Cooper (Corporate Director of Growth, Environment and 
Transport), Mr A Loosemore (Head of Highway Operations), Miss K Phillips 
(Strategic Business Adviser - GET), Mr T Read (Head of Highway Transport), 
M D Beaver (Head of Network Management and Performance), Mr Diplock (Soft 
Landscape Asset Manager), Mr R Fitzgerald (Performance Manager), 
Mr P Lightowler (Head of Public Transport), Ms C McKenzie (Sustainability and 
Climate Change Manager), Mr M Overbeke (Head of Public Protection), 
Mr J Ratcliffe (Principal Transport Planner - Strategy), Mr M Scrivener (Corporate 
Risk Manager), Mrs K Stewart (Director of Environment Planning and Enforcement) 
and Ms C A Singh (Democratic Services Officer)

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS

153. Apologies and Substitutes 
(Item A1)

1. Apologies were received from Mr Wickham who was substituted by  Mr 
Brazier.

154. Declarations of Interest by Members in items on the Agenda 
(Item A2)

The Chairman, Mrs Stockell and Mr Chittenden declared an interest on Item B3 as 
they were both Maidstone Borough Councillors.

155. Minutes of the meeting held on 12 February 2016 
(Item A3)

RESOLVED that the Minutes of the meeting held on 12 February were correctly 
recorded and that they be signed by the Chairman.



2

156. "No Lower Thames Crossing East of Gravesend" - Petition 
(Item C1)

This item was brought forward for discussion by the Chairman as agreed at the start 
of the meeting.

1. The Chairman welcomed Mr Bob Lane, representative of “No to Lower 
Thames Crossing East of Gravesend” and Mr Brian Sweetland, County Councillor for 
Gravesend Rural, who had been given permission to speak at the meeting by the 
Chairman.

2. Mr Lane representative of “No to Lower Thames Crossing East of Gravesend” 
campaign spoke on the petition that asked the Council to withdraw its support for a 
Lower Thames Crossing East of Gravesend and to support the thousands of Kent 
residents whose lives would be devastated by this proposal.  A new crossing East of 
Gravesend would not address the problems at Dartford.

3. The Chairman then invited the Cabinet Committee to debate the petition. 
During debate the following views were expresses and concerns were raised:

 The lifting of the toll at Dartford had not reduced delays and congestion as 
anticipated.  

 A new route was necessary and a status quo was not an option.
 There would always be a collateral cost.
 No viable alternative been put forward the crossing needed to be in 

Gravesend.
 There would always be people who object to what every option was put 

forward.  This was a better option than adding to Dartford’s traffic.  
 It was suggested that there was a need to look at getting freight off the 

roads and onto trains.
 Residents travelling from one borough to another through the tunnel 

should be provided with a free bus service.    These options could be 
carried out through 106 agreements with five year costings.

 A suggestion was made that the tunnel should be extended to avoid 
housing.

 There was support verbalised for the petition and did not feel that the case 
had been made for Option C.  

 It was suggested that Option A and the upgrading of the Dartford Tunnel 
should be addressed in KCC’s response to the Consultation.

 There were strategic questions that need to be asked regarding how much 
infrastructure Kent was willing to accept and what was it doing to the 
quality of lives of Kent’s residents.  It was considered that this was a short 
term solution and that alternatives should be looked into.  Option C would 
have an effect on biodiversity, air quality, land and town scape, noise 
pollution.  It was questioned whether the Kent Environment Strategy had 
any value.

 A request was made that a Kent Freight//Rail Action Plan to be produced.
 A suggestion was made that a Select Committee or Members Task and 

Finish Group consider alternative ports other than Dover.
 There was a need to look at what goods were moving on Kent’s roads at 

source.



3

 This was not nimbyism; there was genuine concern by residents of 
Gravesend.  Option C would do nothing for the Dartford at best it would 
remove 14% of traffic from the Dartford Crossing.  

 It was suggested that the M25 needed to be turned into a true London 
Orbital Road, that could be achieved with little land grab.  The entrance 
and exit would be on the south side between the M20 and the A2, coming 
out at North South Ockenden, bypassing the existing Tunnel.

 Highways England needed to look at the suitability of the roads the traffic 
would be linked to coming out of the tunnel.

 It was suggested that people needed to live in the real world and that  
looking at more suggested routes that had not been through viability tests 
or costed would cause further delays that Kent could not afford. Mr 
Sweetland was given permission to give a point of information.  He 
advised that the option of a long tunnel under Dartford had been costed 
and that information could be found within the HE consultation papers at 
Option A14.

  
4. Mr Balfour said that he had enormous sympathy for those that had signed the 
petition and empathy for all those that were going to be affected by the proposals if 
they went ahead.  Mr Balfour highlighted that; (i) Kent County Council was not the 
deciding body but a consultee; (ii) there needed to be an assurance within KCC‘s 
response to the consultation that it did not reinvent other things that had been 
discounted already; (iii) it was correct that KCC listened to the Petitioners because 
they would be hugely affected, if the proposal went ahead, therefore every possible 
mitigation should be included in the response, particularly compensation for those 
going to be affected; and (iv) whilst KCC needed to pay attention to the petition and 
understand where it was coming from and what it was about, there should also be an 
appreciation that this was a national product.  He reserved further comments for Item 
C2 “Proposed Response to the Highways England Consultation on proposed route 
options for a new Lower Thames Crossing” to be considered later on the agenda.

5. Mr Balfour advised that he had attended; a meeting that had been recorded by 
the BBC to be publicised later in the evening; and a public meeting was held at 
Gravesend, both of which produced heightened feelings. He considered that HE’s 
comments had not helped residents in the local areas come to terms with what might 
happen, he urged Members to listen to the debates.

6. Mr Balfour concluded that if the proposals were agreed further debates would 
take place on the designs for the Crossing.

7. Mr Balfour thanked the Petitioners and Mr Lane.

8. RESOLVED that the petition and the comments by Members on the petition be 
received. 

157. Proposed Response to the Highways England Consultation on proposed 
route options for a new Lower Thames Crossing 
(Item C2)

1. The Director of Environment, Planning and Enforcement, Mrs Stewart, 
introduced a report  that  sought the Cabinet Members comments on the County 
Council’s proposed response to the Highways England consultation on a proposed 



4

route for a new Lower Thames Crossing.  Mrs Stewart stated that the response to the 
consultation was a work in progress.  Consideration would be given to all comments 
raised at this meeting and those made at the Growth, Economic Development and 
Communities Cabinet Committee meeting held on 3 March.  The consultation was 
due to close on 24 March, before which, Cabinet would make its final considerations 
to the final draft of the response at its meeting on 21 March.

2. Members were made aware that the County Council had been working closely 
with the borough councils affected by the proposals taking account of their concerns 
within the response.

3. The Transport Strategy Manager, Mr Ratcliffe, advised on the background of 
the consultation, variations to routes proposed since the first consultation held in 
2013 and the rational of KCC’s draft response appended to the report.

4. The Chairman welcomed the Mr Sweetland, Local Member for Gravesend 
Rural, who had received permission to speak to the meeting.  

5. Mr Sweetland highlighted that he had resigned his Cabinet post because he 
did not agree with the County Council Administration’s view that it strongly supported 
Option C. He highlighted the issues for his decision; (i) A reference in the DfT 
published document in 2013 by AECOM reference to Option C “that it is likely that the 
Dartford Crossing would remain close to capacity and although delays would be 
reduced incidents could still lead to long delays as they do at present” Mr Sweetland 
believed that this was a very big risk which would not be realised until the crossing 
was built in Gravesham. He stressed the issues of the continued traffic congestion at 
Dartford’s former toll area including; air pollution and associated health problems, the 
many incidents per week on that route meant there were three miles of traffic.  Mr 
Sweetland highlighted KCCs response to the DfT consultation in 2013 when it agreed 
Option C included the proviso that a variant was built in; the upgrading of Bluebell 
Hill.  In the current consultation HE had taken the decision not to progress with the 
variant upgrading of Bluebell Hill.  He highlighted the high rates of asthma using a 
health map from the Dartford Crossing Hospital emergency Unit that showed areas 
either side of Dartford which he did not want to see in Gravesend. He quoted from a 
document produced by KCC in 2002 “What Price Growth” and asked for the four 
tests within the report to be returned; to preserve our; countryside, traditional villages, 
market towns and environmental heritage.  He advised that a meeting on the Dartford 
Crossing recorded by Radio Kent would be air in the evening.   He concluded that 
HE’s consultation was bias; poorly managed, accompanying information difficult to 
obtain and would result in the likelihood of no growth with gridlock. He thanked the 
Chairman for allowing him to speak.
 
6. Mr Balfour considered that the consultation was not about growth in Kent but 
was about traffic. For the foreseeable future Ramsgate M2 Folkestone A20.  It was a 
fact that Dover was the shortest and cheapest route From Europe to Kent.  Traffic 
was going to increase by 30% over the next 10 years HGVs.  Three borough councils 
enough may look for traffic needs to be looked into. He stated that KCC did not 
strongly support.  There were variant CC would support parts missing from HE eg 
compensation length of tunnel and environment landscape but heavily constrained.  
Make mention what’s needed to go ahead.



5

7. Members comments were noted and responses to questions by Members 
were as follows:

a) Mr Baldock raised concerns about; the lack of links between the A2/M2 
corridor and the A20/M20 corridor and the lack of evidence from Highways 
England to show that upgrades would be made to the link roads. He 
considered that it had not been demonstrated that alternative options had 
been considered.  He considered that it would be irresponsible of KCC not 
to respond to Option A in its response, the costings were included in the 
consultation. 

b) Mr Baldock stated that he did not support the recommendation. 
c) Dr Eddy highlighted the following on the format of the draft response:

 That the responses to the questions began with the words “strongly 
agree” and considered that this needed to be toned down.  

 The opening paragraph should set out issues mentioned further on in 
the text so that the degree of support for each issue was clear.

 He noted the issues around the policy objection for bifurcation of the 
M2/20 were not mentioned until paragraph 1.10 which he considered 
was too late in the response and should be mentioned in the 
introductory paragraph.  He suggested that we say “our agreement 
clearly is contingent on other changes to the infrastructure of the 
roads; M2 and M20 join with the M25 and the A2 and A20 join Dover; 
and most of that traffic was going through the Port of Dover. 

 He was pleased with the comments in paragraph 7.9.
 He considered that there was a need to reemphasise in the answer to 

the question on feedback on the consultation, towards the end of 
paragraph 9.3, the need for more road improvements to link the two 
systems together otherwise there would be a single link road to Dover 
choked with heavy goods vehicles. 

 The question on just in time deliveries would be a major cultural 
change and needed to be addressed.

d) Mr MacDowall suggested the following:
 that KCC’s response should be “subject to upgrades on the M20, A20, 

A249 and in particular the duelling of the A2; Lydden and Whitfield, a 
route should be created which moved freight away from Dartford, a 
built up urban area, to come into the western suburb link and that HE 
create a tunnel from there through to Essex which would be a direct 
route for freight and more resilient”.  

 He considered that building a junction at the A226 would not work and 
would become gridlocked. 

 He considered that if Option C could be built for less than £6 billion 
there was a possibility that the upgrade of major roads in Kent may be 
afforded.  

 The response should also include the East London crossings at 
Belvedere and Silvertown as part of the overall package.

e) Mr Caller raised the following concerns:
  The acceptance of the roll on roll off traffic and what he considered a 

piecemeal sticking plaster approach to a major problem, rather than a 
long term strategic approach by the government.

  KCC’s response supporting the government’s approach appeared to 
be accepting the growth in traffic without comment on the effect on the 
quality of life for the residents of Kent.



6

 The many contradictory arguments made by HE within the 
consultation.

 He did not accept that the UK could not afford to put in long bore 
tunnels similar to the link tunnel from Denmark and Sweden.

 Referring to page 134, he did not accept the need to look at the A226 
linkage in more detail and should dismiss this.

 There were no detailed comments on the road parallel to Castle Lane 
in Chalk with no suggestion how this would be

 There appeared to be a total lack of concern for the people of Kent 
represented in the response.

 He opposed the draft response in its entirety.
f) Mr Balfour considered that some of the Members comments were unfair 

stating that the reason for the report was for Members to put their 
comments forward.

g) Mr Whybrow made the following comments:
 He agreed with comments that KCC’s response to questions be 

addressed whether it did or did not “strongly agree” with points raised 
in the consultation.

 He agreed with the criticisms of HE consultation process.
 He considered that the figures detailed in the background information 

regarding economic growth and job potential lacked credibility.
 He sought clarification on a question to whether KCC would support 

the Eastern Southern Link referred to on page 133 paragraph 5.2 
which appeared to be unanswered.

h) Mr Balfour explained that the draft response to the consultation was a 
working document and comment had been received from the Growth, 
Environment and Communities Cabinet Committee this committee and 
then Cabinet before its submission.  He stated that KCC could not agree 
to Option C without the mitigating factors to be fully detailed in the 
response.  Mr Balfour clarified that KCC would not support the Eastern 
Southern Link and that it would only support the Western Southern Link.

i) Mr Chittenden made the following comments:
 He was pleased to note other Members comments.
 The loading of lorries onto trains was essential and supported a review 

of Kent’s Freight Action Plan.
 It was essential to get passengers off the roads onto modal or bus 

transport.
 He was disappointed that the connections onto the M20 and M2 were 

not being considered at this stage predicting that this would have 
serious consequences for both routes that already suffered from a 
serious accident record. He requested that this be brought forward in 
the response.

j) Mr Sweetland added that without the link or variant between the M20 and 
M2 eradicated the cost ratios that HE had given in the consultation paper.  
There needed to be a holistic approach.

k) Mr Ozog reflected on the rise in traffic since the Queen Elizabeth II Bridge 
was opened in 1991 and made the following comments:
 Since the toll booths had been removed at the bridge the traffic 

congestion had worsened.  
 He suggested that there was not room in the Dartford area to build 

another crossing and believed it had to be a tunnel option.  



7

 Mr Ozog supported Option C.  
 If freight was to go onto rail a new rail network would have to be 

provided and this would not be feasible.  
 He suggested that the link road A249 should be upgraded.

l) Mr Bowles  made the following points:
 Referring to page 137, paragraph 7.9, he agreed with all of the points 

and the comments raised by Dr Eddy.  
 He would not consider moving the disbenefits from Essex to the A249 

and Medway Services on the M2.
 He believed that the right option was Option C, although not perfect, 

he still struggled with recommending the Cabinet Member support this 
whilst HE was not addressing the improvement of the linking roads.

m) Mr Brazier addressed the issue of freight on rail and why it had not 
worked in the past, due to many transfers that would need to be made of 
the goods from trucks to containers onto rail and the high cost this 
produced rendering it unaffordable.  He reminded Members that freight 
containers would not be able to be carried by rail through London as the 
infrastructure was too old.

8. Mr Balfour referred to the A226 as an extra connection He agreed for this 
issue to be looked at holistically to include all the other road connections.  The issue 
of freight and rail was being looked at.  The comments by Member would be taken 
into account.   He agreed that some of the responses to questions should indicate 
that “we support subject to” highlighting what would make it work.  He agreed that as 
much mitigation as necessary would also be included.

9. Members noted that the final report would be published 5 clear days before 
the meeting of Cabinet on 21 March and any comments on the final report would be 
welcomed.  

10. Mr Sweetland thanked the Cabinet Committee for allowing him to speak and 
concluded that Public Health should also respond to the consultation with regarding 
the links to health risks.

11. RESOLVED that:-

(a) the responses to comments and questions by Members and the report be 
noted; and

(b) the comments by the Local Member for Gravesend Rural, Mr Sweetland, 
and the Cabinet Committee Members be considered by the drafting officers 
for inclusion in KCC’s final response to Highways England’s consultation.           

158. Verbal updates 
(Item A4)

1. The Cabinet Member for Community Services, Mr Hill, advised that he had no 
verbal update for this meeting.

2. The Cabinet Member for Environment and Transport, Mr Balfour, advised on 
the following:-



8

Country Parks, Environment, Planning & Enforcement 
(a) Property Group recently published statutory notices in respect of five 

sites; Parkwood, Preston Hill, Bluebell Hill Picnic site, The Larches and 
Dryhill following a review by the Country Parks team.

(b) The notices regarding the five sites created a significant public 
response, therefore the process was stopped.  A full consultation would 
be would be launch in due course, inviting local communities and 
stakeholders to come forward with proposals to ensure that the sites 
remained open to the public and were financially viable.   This Cabinet 
Committee would receive a future report on the outcome of the 
consultation.

 Safer Roads 
(a) Transport Intelligence: CRASH data recording had now begun at Kent 

Police.  This would streamline data collection and improve accessibility 
and accuracy.

(b) Kent and Medway Safety Camera Partnership: The procurement of 
digital upgrade for existing safety camera equipment had sped up the 
process for police to report speeding offences at camera locations, 
reducing the maintenance costs.

(c) Road Safety: An award winning Speak Up campaign delivery was held 
in February aimed at passengers of young drivers and a Seatbelts 
campaign was held in March to highlight the issue of 1:3 fatalities last 
year due to a seatbelt not being worn.

(d) Safer Mobility: Following a successful bid to the Department for 
Transport for funding had been received to deliver child cyclist training 
in schools until 2020.

Environment  
(a) ISO14001 success – Following a three day assessment the Council has 

shown that it continued to meet the international standard for 
environmental management and delivered improved environmental 
performance. Kent remained ahead of its target for reducing carbon 
dioxide emissions which translated into cost savings on energy, fuel 
and travel.

(b) Kent Environment Strategy – An implementation plan workshop was 
held on 25 February with over 70 delegates in attendance from various 
sectors and organisations providing expert input into the development 
of activities for delivery of the strategic priorities.  Officers were drawing 
the conclusions together to develop the first draft of the implementation 
plan which would be consulted on with key stakeholders over the 
coming months.  

Minerals and Waste Development Plan
(a) Following the 

receipt of several further Main Modifications from the Planning 
Inspectors, that were necessary to ensure the soundness of Kent’s 
Minerals and Waste Local Plan, an eight week public consultation was 
held which expired on 4 March 2016.    

(b) A total of 25 
representations were received.  These views would be considered by 



9

the Inspector in finalising his report.  When he was satisfied with the 
Plan, his report would pave the way for the County Council to adopt the 
Plan.  Once adopted the Minerals and Waste Local Plan became the 
Development Plan against which minerals and waste management 
planning applications were determined and the allocation criteria for the 
separate Minerals and Waste Sites Plans.   The decision to adopt the 
Plan would be a matter for Full Council.  A report on the Minerals and 
Waste Development Plan would be submitted to this Cabinet 
Committee and Cabinet in an advisory capacity. 

Highway Operations and Programmed Works 
(a) Kent had not experienced severe or extreme weather events so far this 

year. This had been recognised in half the number of reported potholes 
per week compared to this time in previous years. The colder night time 
weather for January and February had seen precautionary gritting runs 
increasing with a total number of 40 being undertaken. 

(b) The changes proposed through Service re-design in Highway 
Operations have been embedded into the organisational structure. 
Teams had been co-located to improve service outcomes at a number 
of highway depots. The revised 3 areas of operational delivery were in 
place. 

(c) Scheduled cleansing of highway drainage was back on profile and a 
soakaway cleansing programme had been compiled.  Following the 
service redesign the Drainage team now had a full complement of Staff 
and were working  through the enquiries in a prioritised manner for the 
remainder of this financial year and preparing works for next year. 

(d) Mobilisation of the new LED Street Lighting contract was progressing at 
pace. The first LED lights were due to be installed this week with the full 
programme commencing in Ashford from Monday 14 March. Whilst 
officers had some minor concerns around the IT system, these were 
being addressed and the new contractor was positive that the contract 
would be successful. 

(e) The Highway Resurfacing programme 2015/2016 was on track.  The 
Roads and Footway Asset team was working up a programme for 
2016/17 that balanced asset management with local needs. Members 
of the County Council would receive notification in mid-March what 
works were planned in their respective electoral divisions. 

(f) A substantial shortfall in the level of capital funding required for 2016/17 
realised an £11.5 million gap. This resulted in Highways, Transportation 
and Public Rights of Way teams being allocated 70% of a reduced 
amount. An audit assessment would be undertaken to determine risk 
across all asset areas prior to final budget allocations. 

3. Mr Balfour responded to comments and questions by  Members as follows:
(a) A request was made for a Members Working Group on the Air quality in 

Kent.
(b) Mr Balfour agreed to make further enquiries with Southern Water 

regarding a hole that had opened up on the A249.   He advised that a 
meeting was planned with the main utilities providers and developers to 
reach and an understanding of each other’s work schedules.

(c) Mr Balfour reassured Members that the LED system was robust with 
the one central management system.



10

(d) Concern was raised regarding the reduction in capital funding for the 
Highways, Transportation and Public Rights of Way.  

(e) Mr Balfour and Mr Hill agreed with the suggestion that the Performance 
Dashboard report be moved up the agenda in future as the Cabinet 
Committee would be looking at the management of the commissioning 
of services in the near future.

(f) A request was made that the Cabinet Members’ verbal updates be 
made available for other Members of the County Council to read.

4. Resolved that the comments and the responses to questions by Members and 
the information in the verbal update be noted.

159. Fees and Charges for Highways activities 2016/17 
(Item B1)

1. The Interim Deputy Director Highways Transportation and Waste, Mr 
Loosemore, introduced a report on the proposed changes to fees and charges for the 
2016/17 financial year for certain highways elements where a charge was made for 
the provision of services. He advised that no review was undertaken or changes were 
made for 2015/16.  It was proposed to increase fees in line with recent council tax 
increases, unless fees were not covering reasonable cost where a further increase 
had been proposed.  As there was no increase in 2015/16 the general increase has 
been at 3.98%reflecting two years council tax increases at 1.99% each year.  The 
effective date for agreed changes to fees and charges, as set out in appendix 1 of the 
report, was April 2016.

2. Mr Loosemore responded to questions by Members as follows:

a) Mr Loosemore agreed to discuss; the questions on Third party signing inc. 
Tourism and the differing charges for emergency road closures and 
temporary road closures with Mr Baldock outside the meeting.

b) Members were advised that Road Closures were made by the Traffic 
Regulation rules and a notice was published in the press.

c) Mr Loosemore advised that emergency road closures were carried out by 
notice only which was why the cost of the fee was lower

d) The access to technical information was cheaper for a three year history of 
crashes at a location was cheaper that a five year history as this was 
calculated on the average officer’s time, some cases were longer, some 
were shorter which meant that it was not always the same cost.

e) Mr Loosemore advised that there were no charges for “A” boards on the 
pavements. The Pavement License referred to seating facilities with table 
and chairs on the highway.

f) Mr Loosemore explained that the Technical data on crashes at a location 
was for developers and not the general public.  

g) Mr Loosemore agreed to discuss Mr Caller’s comments regarding the 
headings “Traffic Count data” in the table at appendix 1 with him outside 
the meeting.

h) Mr Loosemore noted the request by a Member to make the form for a 
temporary road closure user friendly.  Mr Loose added that the general 
advice regarding community road closure for the queen’s 90th Birthday 
celebrations this year was available on KCC’s website. There would need 



11

to be signage on the roads regarding the closure and public liability 
insurance.

3. RESOLVED that:-

(a) the responses to questions by Members be noted; and
 

(b) the Cabinet Committee endorsed the recommendations to the Cabinet 
Member for Environment and Transport on the proposed amendments to 
fees and charges for 2016/17 as attached at appendix 1 and 2 of the 
report.

160. West and Mid Kent Dry Recyclables Processing Contract 
(Item B2)

1. The Head of Waste Management Services, Mr Beaver, introduced a report 
that explained that the current contract for the processing of dry recycling would 
expire in June 2016.  As the current contractor, Viridor Management Limited did not 
wish to extend the contract due the significant changes in the global commodity 
process; KCC was due to go out to Tender.  KCC had engaged with four potential 
suppliers that had a progressive and constructive working relationship with KCC.  It 
was proposed to split the contract into two lots based on the collection arrangements 
of the relevant Waste Collection Authorities.  This was due to the cost of recycling 
glass being significantly higher that residual mixed dry recyclates.

2. Mr Beaver and Mrs Cooper agreed to follow up on comments made on 
possible problems at the Allington Energy from Waste (EfW) Incinerator with Mr 
Bowles outside the meeting.  

3. RESOLVED that the Cabinet Committee endorsed the decision to be made by 
the Cabinet Member of Environment and Transport to delegate authority to the 
Head of Waste Services to award the West & Mid-Kent Dry Recyclables 
contract, subject to successful procurement and also to offer contract 
extensions of up to two years subject to achieving satisfactory services 
performance and being commercially beneficial to KCC as set out in appendix 
A of the report.

161. Growth, Environment and Transport Directorate Business Plan 2016-17 
(Item C6)

(This item was brought forward for discussion by the Chairman as agreed at the start 
of the meeting)

1. The Corporate Director for Growth, Environment and Transport, Mrs Cooper, 
introduced a report that outlined the early draft Growth, Environment and Transport 
Directorate Business Plan for 2016-17 as set out in Appendix 1 of the report which 
would be used to help shape and inform the final version of the Directorate Business 
Plan to be published on line in April 2016. Mrs Cooper highlighted key sections of the 
draft, including a commissioning timetable to guide the Commissioning Advisory 
Board and Cabinet Committees going forward as to which commissions they would 
like to look at, a section listing internal and external services which indicates when 
internal services would be reviewed, cross-cutting priorities for customers, 



12

commissioning and communities, and the divisional priorities. Mrs Cooper drew 
Members’ attention to GET’s Plan on a Page, which has been designed to show the 
relationship between our strategic outcomes, Cabinet Member priorities and how they 
flow down into the business plan. Members noted that the Performance Indicators 
were to be developed further for the final business plan.

2. Mrs Cooper and Ms Phillips noted comments and responded to questions by 
Members as follows:

(a) Following a request, Mrs Cooper agreed to the commissioning activity 
tables, on pages 178 to 186, being reproduced at A3 size in future 
reports.

(b) Some Members commented in favour of the new commissioning 
activity table on pages 178-186 of the report and some were finding it 
difficult to understand. Mrs Cooper advised that there had been a lot of 
discussion about ways to simplify the format. Mr Hill added that he felt 
this format reflected Cabinet Members’ priorities better than before.

(c) Ms Phillips advised that the final version of the Growth, Environment 
and Transport Business Plan 2016/2017 would be available in April on 
KCC’s website.

 
3. RESOLVED that the responses to questions by Members and the final 

Directorate Business Plan 2016/2017 would be published online in April 2016 
be noted.

162. Community Warden Service Transformation update 
(Item C5)

(This item was brought forward for discussion by the Chairman as agreed at the start 
of the meeting)

1. The Cabinet Member for Community Services, Mr Hill, introduced a report that 
provided an update on the transformation of the Community Warden Service 
following the public consultation in November 2014 and budget reduction of £700k in 
2015/16 and outlined the development of a Volunteer Support Warden pilot scheme.
  
2. Mr Hill explained that following the consultation 70 uniformed community 
wardens had been retained preserving as much community based frontline delivery 
resource as possible.  It also prompted proposals for a volunteer wardens scheme.  
The volunteers would complement and support the Community Wardens Service 
rather than replace them. This was carried out in conjunction with Kent Police and 
Kent Association of Local Councils (KALC).   

3. The Director of Environment, Planning and Enforcement, Mrs Stewart, advised 
that this was a new way of working and the service would continue to evolve with an 
intelligence led approach.  This work would be carried out working closely with Parish 
and district councils to understand the priorities for their areas and shape the 
Community Warden Service with them in a challenging budget climate.

4. The Head of Public Protection, Mr Overbeke, explained in detail the report 
regarding the realignment of the service to produce the 50% savings whilst 



13

continuing to provide a robust service on the ground. He then spoke on the pilot 
scheme for voluntary warden developed in partnership with KALC. A maximum of 12 
Parish Councils were selected to be involved to keep the pilot manageable.  A 
recruitment campaign was held for three months and 18 people responded in the 
specific areas.  Following interviews eight individuals were selected who would be 
deployed across five parish and two town council areas following their training in 
March 2016.  A structure review would be undertaken on the pilot in the next six 
months.  A decision would be made on whether to expand of the scheme and if so 
any financial contribution required from participating parishes enabling the parish to 
decide if it wished to be part of a full Scheme in April 2017.

5. Mr Hill, Mrs Stewart and Mr Overbeke responded to questions by Member as 
follows:

(a) Mr Overbeke advised that the financial savings target of £700k had been 
achieved.

(b) All the posts within the scheme had been filled.
(c) Concerns were raised regarding the parish councils setting their precept 

before November.  This left a narrow timeframe for the Parishes to 
decide to proceed with the scheme.  Mr Hill agreed that it was a narrow 
timeframe.  The purpose of the pilot was to tease out some of the 
difficulties.  He confirmed that for the scheme to work the Volunteer 
would need sufficient support and advice from a regular Community 
Warden.

(d) A report would be submitted to a future meeting of this Cabinet 
Committee on the outcome of the Pilot.

(e) A robust approach would be taken with regards recruitment as the 
volunteers would be wearing a uniform and badge and would undertake 
training similar to that of the Community Wardens.

(f) Mr Hill said that he had many letter and article of appreciation about the 
work of the Community Wardens.  Mrs Stewart advised that there was 
work being undertaken regarding communications and branding of the 
Community Wardens service. Work would also be carried out with local 
parishes to identify where possible volunteers may be identified for the 
service.

(g) Comments were made that the Community Warden Scheme was of great 
benefit to the community and support for the local councillors.

(h) Mr Hill stressed that this was a suitable role for volunteers as they would 
be good at helping people, offering advice, assistance; and signposting.  
Mr Hill said that he had fought hard following the advice of experts to 
keep 70 Community Wardens, that being the lowest number to offer 
robust cover across the county. The volunteer presence would offer more 
resilience to the resource.

(i) Mr Caller was pleased to receive the reassurances given by Mr Hill and 
that a detailed report would be submitted to a future meeting and 
requested that the report included what qualified an area receiving a 
volunteer the support the current Warden in the area and how outside 
bodies/local authorities could contribute to the costs.

6. RESOLVED that:-

(a) the responses to comments and questions by Members be noted; and



14

(b) a detailed report be submitted to a future meeting of this Cabinet 
Committee on the outcome of the Volunteer Support Wardens pilot 
scheme and consideration be given to that report being produced district 
by district be agreed.

(c) the transformation of the Community Wardens Service following the 
public consultation and the savings contribution made to the Medium 
Term Financial Plan as set out in the report be noted.

163. West and Mid Kent District.  A274 & A20 junctions with Willington Street, 
construction of dedicated directional lanes 
(Item B3)

1. The Deputy Director Highways Transport and Waste, Mr Read, introduced the 
report on the improvement scheme to widen the Willington Street Junction. The 
overall estimated scheme cost was £1.8 million.  The allocation from the Local 
Growth Fund was £1.3 million.  The remaining £500k was available from Section 106 
Local Developer contributions. The Scheme information had been submitted to 
Government, to confirm the £1.3 million Local Growth Fund allocation to the 
Willington Street Junction improvement Scheme as recommended by the South East 
Local Enterprise Partnership Accountability Board.
 
2. Mr Read noted comments and responded to questions by Members as 
follows:-

a) This was a very welcomed report.  This area was notoriously conjected 
with traffic and any widening of this road was welcomed. 

b) Mr Chittenden advised that this was one of many items from the Integrated 
Plan which had been agreed by Maidstone Borough Council and the Joint 
Transport Board.  He considered this the only sensible route South of 
Maidstone.

3. Resolved that:-
 

(a) the comments and responses to questions by Members be noted; and

(b) the Cabinet Committee endorsed the proposed decision to be taken by the 
Cabinet Member for Environment & Transport to:

i) approve the preliminary design scheme for Willington Street 
Maidstone A274 Sutton Road junction & Willington Street Maidstone 
A20 Ashford Road junction for development control and land charge 
disclosures;

ii) give approval to progress all statutory approvals or consents required 
for the scheme ;

iii) give approval to enter into Local Growth Fund funding agreement 
subject to the approval of the Corporate Director of Finance & 
Procurement, and



15

iv) give approval to enter into construction contracts as necessary for the 
delivery of the scheme subject to the approval of the Procurement 
Board to the recommended procurement strategy.                                                                                                     

164. KCC Bus Funding Review - Proceed to Public Consultation on Proposed 
Service Changes 
(Item B4)

1. The Cabinet Member for Environment and Transport, Mr Balfour, introduced a 
report that sought the Cabinet Committees endorsement for a consultation to take 
place on a range of measures required to reduce KCC expenditure on supported bus 
services as set out in Appendix A of the report.  A further report would be submitted 
to this Cabinet Committee detailing the responses of the consultation and any 
necessary proposals to a future meeting.

2. Mr Balfour praised the work of the Head of Public Transport, Mr Lightowler 
and his Team to achieve the savings and reduce the impact on those that use the 
bus services.

3. Mr Balfour and Mr Lightowler noted comments and responded to questions by 
Members as follows:

a) A comment was that the consultation did not allow for the consultee to be 
against the issue in their answers.

b) Mr Baldock advised that there had been a noticeable impact on the 
residents in his electoral area.  Mr Lightowler said that there had been 
minimal impact on users of the bus services.  If there were a lot of 
complaints the Corporate Director would have seen them.

c) Mr Chittenden commented that when services were cut there must be an 
effect on people who use the service and he hoped that the bus routes 
least used were those affected.  He praised the timely bus services in this 
electoral area and considered that there was still a need to reduce the 
number of cars on the road.

d) A comment was made that the figures within the report and appendix did 
not tally and needed to be revised. Mr Lightowler agreed to address the 
figures in the report and appendix.  He explained that the Operators Grant 
portion of full duty was 25 pence per litre.  The Department for Transport 
(DfT) paid a fixed sum.  The officers recalculated the figures and found that 
this generated a surplus of £250,000.  Members noted that there was an 
agreement that as long as the surplus could be reinvested into public 
transport this would be signed off by the DfT.  

e) Mr Balfour advised that most other Local Authorities had ceased to provide 
supported bus services.  KCC’s aim was to ensure the revisions to the 
existing service allowed it to operate commercially.

f) Mr Lightowler advised that he had worked hard on the EQIA  whether 
deprivation was considered would have depended on the data that came 
back on the usage and deprivation may not have been as high .  He 
referred to Stage Coach in Folkestone having a strong commercial 
network.

g)  Agreement was given to a request for a report on “Supported bus 
services” being submitted to a future meeting of the Cabinet Committee 
outside of the consultation. 



16

4. RESOLVED that:-

(a) the comments and questions by Members be noted; and

(b) the Cabinet Committee endorsed the decision to be taken by the Cabinet 
Member for Environment & Transport on the proposed decision to approve 
consultation on a range of measures (bus service changes) required to 
reduce KCC expenditure on supported bus services as set out in Appendix 
A of the report.

165. Low Carbon across the South East Project 
(Item B5)

1. The Sustainable Business Programme Manager and Head of Sustainable 
Business and Communities, Mrs McKenzie, introduced a report that sought approval 
for the delivery of the Low Carbon across South East (LOCASE) project funded via 
European Regional Development Funds.  She advised that the project’s value was 
£18 million and was an accessible business support programme across the SELEP 
area, providing grants to small businesses.
  
2. Mrs McKenzie responded to questions by Members as follows:-

a) Mrs McKenzie advised that the usage of water did not within this funding.  
She gave examples of how the funding could be used by a business eg a 
feasibility study, an audit, marketing, relocation etc to increase its efficiency 
in low carbon.

b) Mrs McKenzie was able to forward a list of companies to Members that had 
received support in the last round of funding.  She explained that her Team 
provided generic advice and had procured a framework of suppliers to give 
to businesses.  

c) There would be a strict criteria followed before funding a business.  The 
businesses were assessed by the Sustainable Business Team then by the 
Funding Panel.  

d) Mrs McKenzie explained that as part of the proposal for EU funding, KCC 
had agreed to contribute £134,377 in-kind match funding over three years 
of the project.  She was able to provide figures from the last round to 
Members outside the meeting.  Mrs McKenzie’s advised that her Team, 
over the three years, would bring in £18 million which was good value for 
money.  

e) It was agreed that a report and appendix headed “European Funding 
Update” submitted to the Growth, Economic Development and 
Communities Cabinet Committee on 3 March 2016   be forwarded to 
Members. This report indicated that, based on the projects already 
approved and others in the course of being evaluated, over £45 million in 
EU funding was likely to have been secured by Kent by the end of the first 
quarter of 2016 in support of its priorities.

f) Members were assured that no funding would be forwarded to the 
successful businesses that applied for funding until the EU grant funding 
was banked and receipts from the businesses were received.  

g) Mrs McKenzie concluded that the funding was secured until 2020 
regardless of the outcome of the European Referendum.



17

  
3. RESOLVED that:-

(a) the responses to questions by Members be noted; and

(b) the Cabinet Committee endorsed the decision to be taken by the Cabinet 
Member for Environment and Transport on the proposed decision to 
approve the delivery of the Low Carbon across the South East as detailed 
in appendix A of the report.

166. Kent County Council Highways, Transportation & Waste Soft Landscape 
Works - Service Review 2018/19 
(Item C3)

1. The Chairman of the Task and Finish Group, Mr Pearman, introduced a report 
that set out the work undertaken by the Member Task and Finish Group set up to 
review the options for the future commissioning of the soft landscape works service.

2. Mr Pearman thanked the Members of the Task and Finish Group; Mr Caller, 
Mr Whybrow, Mr Chittenden, Mr Baldock and Mr Brazier, for all their work on this 
matter.  He advised that the Group concluded that their preferred approach was 
Option 3Devolve to Local Councils. 

3. Mr Diplock explained that a series of workshops would be set up to consider 
devolution of the service to local councils and determine the level of interest.  This 
work would be carried out in conjunction with the Kent Associations of Local 
Councils.

4. Mr Balfour also thanked the Task and Finish Group and considered that the 
local authority should be heavily involved in this.

5. Mr Pearman, Mr Balfour and Mr Diplock responded points raised by Members 
as follows:

a) Some Members applauded the recommendation by the Task and Finish 
Group.

b) A comment was made that borough councils also had to make financial 
savings and there may be issues with devolving the soft landscape works 
service in the future.

6. RESOLVED that responses to questions by Members; and support be given to 
the recommendation by the Task and Finish Group set out in the report be 
noted.

167. Kent County Council Response to Maidstone Borough Council Regulation 
19 Local Plan Publication: Integrated Transport Strategy 
(Item C4)

1. The Cabinet Member for Environment and Transport, Mr Balfour, introduced a 
report that explained the work undertaken to date with Maidstone Borough Council 
(MBC) in seeking to agree a realistic and deliverable Integrated Transport Strategy 
(ITS), as part of the Maidstone Local Plan.  He reported that the draft Integrated 



18

Transport Strategy produced by MBC;  and to which a response was necessary, did 
not reflect KCC’s position.

2. Mr Balfour believed that work could still be done jointly between MBC and 
KCC to ensure that an improved document was produced in the future and therefore 
work continued to be undertaken to remedy the problems highlighted in the report 
and to secure a robust Local Plan for Maidstone Borough Council.

3. The Head of Highway Transport, Mr Read, reported that MBC were 
undertaking a regulation 19 consultation on their draft Local Plan which included the 
draft integrated transport strategy to which Mr Balfour had referred in his introduction.  
He informed members that the ITS had been produced by MBC unilaterally, despite 
the fact that it should be a jointly produced document and that as a result it did not 
reflect KCC’s position.  Furthermore, it did not reflect the position of the local Joint 
Transportation Board as agreed at its meeting in December 2015.   Therefore it 
would be necessary to voice an objection to the document at this stage, and for the 
reasons set out, on account of the unacceptably severe impact on     the highway 
network. 

4.     He continued; KCC had been working with MBC on the draft document for 5 
years during which time the number of proposed new houses had risen from 10,000 
to 18,560 and this had caused concern for KCC that the impact on the highway 
network would be unacceptably severe.  National planning guidance required the 
local highways authority, KCC, to produce evidence where it was believed that the 
impact of a plan or proposal on traffic congestion would be severe and in this case 
this was evidenced by the traffic modelling work jointly commissioned by KCC and 
MBC.

5. The JTB had considered this evidence in July 2015, which estimated that 
without mitigating measures traffic delays in the town would rise by 40% as a result of 
the impact of the Local Plan. Mr Read stressed that the Strategy put forward by MBC 
did not include measures to successfully mitigate the impact of over 18k houses.   In 
addition, the modelling work had found that the most severe impacts would occur at 
the south and south-east approaches to the town and that a relief road connecting 
the A274 to the A20, around the villages of Leeds and Langley, was shown to be the 
best way of mitigating these identified pressures.  The JTB agreed that MBC and 
KCC should work towards an interim housing strategy to 2022 including lower 
housing numbers and pursue the provision of the relief road as described.  

6. Despite representations reflecting the concerns and recommendations of KCC 
and the JTB as detailed in paragraph 5.  MBC did not address the matters within the 
local plan and went further to produce a unilateral ITS.  As such neither document 
reflected KCC concerns regarding additional housing in these areas, nor the view 
that work toward an LLRR should be undertaken.  It also included what KCC believed 
were unrealistic proposals for bus services on the main radial routes, and a walking 
and cycling strategy not agreed in consultation with KCC. 

7. For the reasons set out Mr Read recommended that the committee endorse 
the intention to object to the draft strategy at this stage prior to the Examination in 
Public but he stressed that officers and members would continue to encourage MBC 
to work jointly toward an interim strategy that included reduced housing numbers and 
a commitment to an LLRR.



19

8.  Mr Balfour and Mr Read responded to comments and questions by Members 
as follows:

a) Mr Chittenden, expressed concern regarding the contents of the report and 
comments made by Mr Read.  He read out a statement that included 
evidence of successful joint working between the two authorities and named 
Highway Improvement Options projects that had been agreed and 
progressed, and included the LLRR in this list as a project fully supported by 
both KCC and MBC.  He also defended the housing allocation numbers 
within the plan, and said that they had been based on government 
guidelines.  He welcomed Mr Balfour’s comments that discussions continued 
to take place with MBC but confirmed that he did not support the 
recommendations set out in the report and urged members to instead, 
support the plan in order that it could meet government deadlines and avoid 
the government taking over the process; a possibility that MBC had been 
alerted to.   

b) Mr Balfour thanked Mr Chittenden for his comments but he expressed 
concern that the matters to which he had referred had been discussed and 
resolved many times over at various meetings such as the Maidstone JTB.  
He believed now that the way forward must be to recognise that at present 
the Local Plan and ITS that KCC was responding to would not be achieved 
without severe congestion of the highways system. 

c) Mr Read advised that the Maidstone Borough Council’s Integrated Transport 
Strategy, prepared with KCC’s logo on it although it had not been subject of 
KCC approval, would not mitigate the impact of 18,560k new houses in the 
borough until 2031 and that it was his professional duty to advise members 
present that that was unacceptable.

d) Mr Bowles stated that Members should take the professional advice of 
officers and rely on it when making their judgements.  He expressed concern 
that this would delay the approval of Maidstone’s Local Plan, leaving them 
open to speculative development, but felt that this consequence was 
unavoidable. 

e) Mr Baldock expressed concern that the meeting had not heard from MBC 
officers as well as those from KCC and stated that he disliked the process by 
which Local Plans were agreed in general, which should, he felt, avoid 
interference from parties other than the Borough Council.  As a result he 
could not support recommendations, such as those contained within the 
report for consideration, which would cause considerable difficulty for MBC.  
In response Mr Balfour stressed that this was not interference by the County 
Council but a professional response to a problem.  Members of the Cabinet 
Committee were being asked to comment on the issues to be included in that 
response by KCC to MBC’s draft Integrated Transport Strategy.  Mr Read 
commented; and stressed that it was a legal duty of KCC as the Local 
Highways Authority to comment and give advice on the draft Integrated 
Transport Strategy and that the one before them for consideration had no 
evidence to support the conclusions within it.

f) Mr Brazier highlighted all of the services and facilities that the County Council 
was responsible for provided within the boroughs and that as such the 
County Council needed to be involved in the Local Plan building process; 
without a joint approach there would be no local plan agreed and the matter 



20

would be decided by government or the courts which was not in the interests 
of the County. 

g) Mr Chittenden spoke again to reiterate in response to comments from Mr 
Read that MBC had only just received the modelling to which he had 
referred.  He also explained that the government, and not MBC, had over 
time increased the proposed new housing allocation to over 18k and the only 
way this could have been avoided would have been through the modelling 
being available, which it was not.  He stated that if the ITS was not submitted 
the number of proposed new houses could rise again. He was aware of 
options that were being discussed with officers and councillors of KCC and 
MBC to find a way forward and supported those but could not support the 
recommendations within the report.  In conclusion he refuted allegations that 
the process had been political and assured members that the submission of 
the plan as drafted had cross-party support.     

h) The Corporate Director of GET spoke to the item; she reiterated that the 
modelling had been commissioned jointly by MBC and KCC and that each of 
the scenarios had been agreed by the JTB and that as soon as the evidence 
had become available to support concerns regarding severity KCC had 
voiced concerns and made objections.  She was concerned that MBC had 
now unilaterally procured another highway consultant to question the results 
of the jointly procured work, all of which involved public expenditure.  She 
assured members that no party to the process wished to derail the process or 
the plan.  It was important that MBC saw that the objections to the plan as 
drafted were properly considered by the appropriate members of the council 
but that ultimately it would be officers who would have to defend the Plan and 
ITS at the enquiry in public and that this was not possible at this time.  It was, 
she argued, unfortunate that what had been perceived as an agreed way 
forward; a pause to 2020 and work toward an LLRR, had not been reflected 
in the plan but assured members that despite the difficulties and objections 
reported to them today, both parties wanted a successful local plan to 
emerge. 

i) Mr Caller urged members and officers of both KCC and MBC to move quickly 
to address the situation so that the ultimate, and negative, consequence of 
MBC losing control of the process did not come to fruition.  

9. RESOLVED that:-

(a) the comments and responses to questions by Members be noted; and

 By 9 votes to 2 with 1 abstention that:

(b) the Cabinet Committee endorsed the proposed KCC response to the 
Regulation 19 consultation on the draft Integrated Transport Strategy 
(ITS) that: the level of development would have a severe impact 
particularly on key transport routes in South and South East Maidstone 
which would not be mitigated by the measures contained in the draft ITS 
and that MBC and KCC should work together to develop a jointly agreed 
ITS in accordance with the resolution of the Maidstone JTB on 07/12/15 
that:

“in the absence of an agreed transport strategy and in light of the 
evidence presented to this Board demonstrating Maidstone’s significant 



21

highway capacity constraints, this Board recommends that a transport 
strategy be taken forward urgently by the Borough and County Councils 
covering the period of the Local Plan, with a further review completed in 
2022.

The aim of this strategy will be to mitigate the transport impact of future 
growth, in the first instance up to 2022. The strategy should comprise of 
the key highway schemes and public transport improvements agreed by 
the Board, and further traffic modelling will be required to identify its 
impact. It is proposed that the £8.9 million growth fund monies identified 
for transport be used to accelerate the delivery of these improvements. 
Existing developer contributions may then be used to support further 
measures.

The agreed transport strategy should also develop the justification for a 
relief road between the A20 to the A274 (the Leeds and Langley Relief 
Road), along with a preferred route, in order to allow testing with other 
strategic transport options and identify all source of potential funding to 
enable the schemes to be implemented at the earliest opportunity.” 

168. Work Programme 2016 
(Item C7)

RESOLVED that the work programme 2016 be noted.

169. Risk Management: Growth, Environment and Transport 
(Item D1)

1. The Corporate Risk Manager, Mr Scrivener, introduced an annual report that 
contained strategic or cross cutting risks that potentially affect several functions 
across Growth, Environment and Transport directorate.  There were currently six 
directorate risks featured on the GET risk register none of which were rated “High”.  
The Corporate Director for Growth, Environment and Transport was also designated 
as the Lead for two corporate risks relating to CRR3 and CRR4.

2. RESOLVED that the directorate risk register and relevant corporate risks 
outlined in appendices 1 and 2 be noted

170. Performance Dashboard 
(Item D2)

1. The Business Intelligence Manager – Performance, Mr Fitzgerald, introduced 
a report on performance against targets for the Key Performances Indicators 
including this year’s Directorate Business Plan.  He highlighted that Highways and 
Transport had met all of its targets and Waste Landfill was also doing very well and 
although Kent Scientific Services had a good year it had not reached the income it 
had received in 2015.

2. Mr Balfour advised that the Public Rights Of Way red indicator, on page 242 of 
the report, was due to a systems failure that had taken some time to correct.



22

3. RESOLVED that the report be noted.


	Agenda
	3 To confirm the Minutes of the meeting of the Dartford Joint Transportation Board held on 1 March 2016 and the Special meeting of the Board held on 12 April 2016
	DH.final.Re.PUBLISH.Minutes.JTB12April2016

	6 Matters Arising
	Matters Arising report

	9 Parking Traffic Regulation Order - Clarendon Gardens and Cadogan Avenue, Dartford.
	DA AMENDMENT 20 ORIGINAL INTENDS final
	DA AMENDEMENT 20 TRO RESPONSES REDACTED final
	DA AMENDEMENT 20 REVISED PLAN final
	Sheets and Views
	Layout 1



	12 Road Works in the Borough of Dartford
	Dartford Highway Works Programme June 2016

	13 KCC - Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee
	Minutes  12 Feb of Previous Meeting
	Printed minutes 11th-Mar-2016 10.00 Environment Transport Cabinet Committee


